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Financial Highlights

(Amounts in thousands of Dollars, except per share data) 2000 1999

Revenues
Gross profit
Operating income
Income before income taxes
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Stockholders’ equity
Backlog

2,893,962
295,907
58,091
49,678
27,821

2.86
2.21

170, 249
1,769,792

3,460,204

357,817

78,925

71,587

40,089

3.84

2.95 

233,503

1,795,486
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In 2000, EMCOR Group continued to enhance its range of
capabilities and service offerings. The Company’s across-the-
board expertise in a wide range of services associated with the
design, construction, operation and maintenance of facilities 
is the basis of the organization’s rapid evolution, keeping pace
with today’s rate of technological change. As EMCOR continues
to grow, it is well positioned to service not only traditional
markets, but also those emerging sectors experiencing rapid
change and growth.

In 2000 the Company highlighted its international
focus on three emerging market sectors with
substantial growth potential – facilities services,
energy, and communications infrastructure.

The high level of technical content, especially in
sophisticated mechanical and electrical systems,
associated with these sectors is a perfect fit with
EMCOR’s construction, operations and maintenance
capabilities. These are EMCOR’s core competencies,
and its experienced technical personnel allows EMCOR
to respond rapidly to the changing needs of customers
almost anywhere in the world.

EMCOR continues to invest in expanding 
the capabilities of its subsidiary operations and is
increasingly utilizing these operations to bring 
“one-stop shopping,” single point of contact
service to clients with national and international
business needs.

EMCOR’s 2000 performance record reflects the
continued strong demand for its services across its
geographic and operational markets. The significant
increase in the pace of both project awards and backlog
turnover is testament to EMCOR’s ability to satisfy the
time-sensitive requirements of its clients.

facilities services

energy

communications infrastructure
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facilities services

Efficient utilization of assets is an
important component of today’s fiscally
conscious management. And as the
systems on which facilities depend
become more complex and demanding,
EMCOR has the skills, expertise and
scope of operations to support these
facility needs.

The facilities services sector, driven by 
the continued growth of outsourcing 
and the desire of facilities managers to
access world-class operational capabilities,
is an area of high growth potential.

There is no standard offering of
EMCOR’s services; rather, each customer
has a unique set of needs. EMCOR can
respond in a flexible manner to each 
case, bringing as much or as little of
its service capabilities as is required to

By being on the inside of its clients’ facilities, providing operation,
maintenance and support services to critical building management
systems, EMCOR’s experienced technical personnel is able to 
respond rapidly to changing client needs and truly become an 
integral part of its clients’ businesses.

EMCOR’s use of internet and wireless communications
equipment provides round-the-clock support to today’s
systems-rich facilities. EMCOR not only maintains
mission-critical systems, it operates them as well, allowing
its customers, such as major financial institutions, to focus 
on core activities.

bear upon each task. Through on-site
and mobile service, electrical and
mechanical capabilities, operational
expertise, and use of internet and
wireless communications equipment,
EMCOR is able to increase a facility’s
overall functionality at any point in 
its life cycle. In 2000, the Company
continued to expand its services to a
wide range of customers, such as
Boston’s FleetCenter, one of New
England’s premier multi-purpose
entertainment complexes, and
Motorola’s MOS-12 Facility in 
Chandler, Arizona, an 80-acre campus
that manufactures microcontrollers,
digital signal processors, and integrated
circuits. Building long-term, brand-
name relationships is important to
EMCOR’s overall goal of becoming a
one-source provider of high quality
facilities services.
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In 2000, EMCOR aggressively sought to solidify its position as a market
leader in the facilities services sector. This is best reflected by its joint
venture with CB Richard Ellis (CBRE), one of the world’s leading property
management firms. This partnership allows EMCOR to provide technical
solutions and building operations and maintenance to CBRE clients 
and others.
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From feasibility study through design and construction, EMCOR provides its
expertise at every stage of the University of California, San Diego (UCSD)
Cogeneration Facility project (pictured), the single largest turnkey project ever
undertaken by UCSD. When this project is completed, UCSD will be able to tap 
into EMCOR’s facilities services for operation, maintenance and support services.

4

energy



5

In 2000, EMCOR delivered expert
design/build, retrofit and management
services to its clients seeking answers 
to tough energy management 
questions. From distributed power 
to energy-use analysis, EMCOR 
focuses on its customers’ energy 
needs so they can concentrate on 
their core business activities.

Deregulation of the electricity market
coupled with rapidly increasing demand
for ultra-reliable, high quality electric
power for the digital economy provides
new and increased opportunities for
EMCOR to build and maintain energy
supply systems. Deregulation and tight
supplies force energy consumers to 
make informed choices that will allow
them to keep their energy costs down.
EMCOR’s broad experience and technical
expertise enables it to help its customers
make and implement these choices 
and maintain their systems to ensure
reliable, cost-effective operation.

EMCOR’s strength in the energy sector 
is derived from its varied experience and
its ability to bundle allied services in a
quantity and manner determined by 
each client. And EMCOR’s roster of
clients for its energy services is as varied
as the services themselves, including
Ontario Power Generation, Aladdin 
Hotel and Casino, TransCanada Pipelines,
Harvard Medical School, TOSCO,
Verizon, and the University of California.

Easy answers are hard to come by in today’s tight energy market; the uncertainties
of deregulation, static supply of product, and burgeoning demand have created
logistical challenges for facilities managers. For those organizations where reliable
and affordable power is an absolute necessity, EMCOR is an indispensable partner.

EMCOR’s involvement in the energy transmission and
production market is significant. In September 2000,
EMCOR completed its work on the Alliance Gas Pipeline 
project – one of the largest in North America – providing
gas from the western provinces of Canada to the
midwestern United States.

EMCOR Energy
EMCOR Energy combines broad-based
consulting and engineering services with
the local market knowledge and expertise
of EMCOR’s contracting and facilities
services companies in order to provide
integrated services with quality, price
competitiveness, and an accelerated
delivery process.



communications infrastructure

Perhaps no market in recent memory has offered more challenges than the design,
construction, and operation and maintenance of data centers. In 2000, EMCOR
responded to the urgent and intense demands of this marketplace, successfully
completing time-sensitive and systems-rich projects for many communications
leaders, including Qwest, Exodus Communications and AboveNet.
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Demand for bandwidth has created
entirely new markets, businesses 
relying on high speed communications
infrastructure. The advent of systems-
rich facilities – EMCOR has worked 
in over 500 in this sector – has placed
the Company in an enviable market
position. At the end of 2000, EMCOR
had completed more than 260 data
center/switch site projects in the United
States. Additionally, with its combination
of expertise, experience and diversity,
few companies can match what EMCOR
brings to the table when responding to
these demanding projects.

EMCOR’s network of operations offers
high-quality service in almost every
major area of the communications
industry at a time when to stay
competitive companies need across-the-
board expertise in designing, building,
operating and maintaining facilities and
systems vital to sustaining their core
operations.

The communications industry is undergoing rapid change as new
demands create substantial challenges. In this environment, EMCOR has
already built a worldwide reputation for high-caliber performance with a
variety of inside- and outside-plant projects.

Blue-Chip Service
Most of today’s facilities require reliable
operation of such diverse systems as
HVAC, network infrastructure, and
power generation in an integrated
fashion. EMCOR’s size and diversity
enables it to bring a broad base of
knowledge to bear on all aspects of
these facilities systems and service its
customers on a global basis.

EMCOR leverages its knowledge base
across systems and sectors to enhance 
a facility’s operations. This leverage 
also enables the Company to provide
additional services to meet its customers
evolving demands.

As needs change in evolving businesses, EMCOR’s
service offerings continue to keep pace. From internet
service providers to financial service institutions, many
leading companies across the U.S. and internationally
look to EMCOR for construction and expansion
programs where EMCOR is able to offer services on
turnkey, design/build and single trade basis, with post-
completion support of operations and maintenance.

7



knowledge in action

In July 2000, EMCOR launched EMCOR Service, its coordinated national mobile
service network. Many of today’s institutions and facilities, such as hospitals, data
centers, and power plants, must operate continuously at a high level of efficiency.
EMCOR is able to provide the constant monitoring and rapid service delivery
necessary to support the continuous operation of these facilities’ vital systems. From
service calls to overhauls, EMCOR Service delivers specialized, customized support.
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In 2000, EMCOR positioned itself as a truly distinctive brand. It operates
throughout North America and in Europe, the Middle East, and South Africa.
And as EMCOR grows, its core competencies grow as well. EMCOR now
provides operation and maintenance services to over 700 million square feet
of its customers’ facilities, and the range of facilities is astounding, from
cogeneration plants to football stadiums, resort hotels to data centers.

As EMCOR evolves, one thing remains
constant: world-class, highly responsive
service. In 2000, EMCOR enhanced its
service capabilities through its strategic
program of internal development and
management initiatives.

EMCOR’s focus on mobile, remote, and
on-site service is supported by its ability
to formulate and implement process-
oriented solutions to meet customers’
present and future needs. Whether 
the customer seeks to exploit next-
generation technologies or to reduce
operating costs, EMCOR delivers.

Many of today’s institutions and facilities never 
sleep, and neither does EMCOR. The Company 

has provided round-the-clock service to a range of
facilities, and has worked on more than 130 gaming
facilities projects in the U.S. and overseas, including 

the Bellagio, Paris, Aladdin, Mohegan Sun, Mirage, 
Circus Circus, Caesars, Foxwoods, and Mandalay Bay.

EMCOR’s mechanical and electrical
companies provide multi-skilled
technicians, fully-equipped vehicles 
and industry know-how. Since it can
leverage its expertise from within its
companies, EMCOR is able to utilize 
its broad knowledge to address the 
short- and long-term requirements of its
customers’ facilities. Whether a facilities
manager is seeking to consolidate 
supply chain service provision or to 
find strategic partners, EMCOR is the
leading, one-source service provider.
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It is my pleasure to report to you 

that the enclosed operational and

financial results are the best in your

company’s history. 

For the fifth consecutive year,

EMCOR set records in all the major

measures of corporate performance,

and our results reflect strong growth

over 1999 levels: 

♦ Global revenues grew 19.6%, to 

$3.46 billion.

♦ Operating income increased 35.9%,

to $79 million.

♦ Diluted earnings per share improved

33.5%, to $2.95 per share.

How has EMCOR established and

maintained such a consistent record

of growth and performance? In part,

the answer lies in management

policies which enforce, and reward,

continued concentration on the

basics of our business: risk 

reduction, cash-positive operations,

and real-time information systems to

keep us informed about project and

service delivery performance. This

to our shareholders

management discipline has enabled

us to accomplish the growth rates

described above with no increase 

in debt; in fact, we enter 2001 

with record levels of balance sheet

cash and a record $1.8 billion

backlog of construction and facilities

services contracts.

But I believe that the most important

factor in our consistent success

continues to be the kind and quality

of service and performance that 

our employees deliver every day 

to thousands of customers on four

continents. We sum up our

continuing commitment to quality of

service by the attachment of a new

tag line to our Corporate Signature:

Now, it shouldn’t be surprising that

the world’s foremost technical

services provider possesses a wealth

of experience and expertise with

respect to the complex systems and

services that we deliver to our clients. 

But at EMCOR, the knowledge we

bring to a customer is not just

detailed technical information; it’s

also the knowledge of the customer’s

goals and expectations, the intimate

familiarity with a client’s facilities,

operational issues, problems, and

plans that enable EMCOR

employees to respond creatively and

proactively. In short, to meet all

client expectations, including those

that are unspoken. This is how long-

term relationships are made and

maintained, and the existence of

thousands of such relationships

translates directly into the consistent

growth and excellent results that we

have reported for the last five years. 

In November 2000, we were proud

to announce the listing of our shares

on the New York Stock Exchange

under our new stock trading symbol

“EME”. On the “Big Board,” we have

joined many hundreds of our long-

time customers, and some of the

finest companies of their kind in 

the world. We think this is entirely

appropriate. 

knowledge in actionTM
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Frank T. MacInnis, Chairman & CEO, and Jeffrey M. Levy, President &
COO, pictured at New York’s New Amsterdam Theatre, home of Disney’s
Tony Award winning Broadway production of The Lion King. Penguin
Maintenance and Service (an EMCOR company) provides total facilities
management to this facility on a 24 hour/7 day basis.

Operating Income
in millions

Diluted Earnings
per Share

* Before extraordinary item - loss on early extinguishment of debt

The 39.7% return to shareholders

that we reported during 2000

brought our total return over the last

five years to 172%, a substantial

premium over all of the major stock

performance indices. We are in a

strong position to continue our

record performance levels in 2001

through our three major strategic

growth sectors, Energy, Facilities

Services, and Communications

Infrastructure; through consistent

application of time-tested

management policies; and through

the fulfillment each day of our

ongoing promise to our customers:

“Knowledge in Action.”

Our consistent performance is

matched only by the consistent

support of our shareholders, directors,

and employees who make it possible.

Thank you all. 

Frank T. MacInnis
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer

over the last  five years of 172%.
A return to shareholders 

$ 3,460.2

$ 2,894.0

$ 2,210.4

98 99 00 98 99 00

$ 78.9

$ 58.1

$ 37.2

98 99 00

$ 2.95

$ 2.21

$ 1.46*

Revenue
in millions



12 EMCOR, 2000 Annual Report

General
EMCOR Group, Inc. (“EMCOR”) is one of the largest mechanical
and electrical construction and facilities services firms in the
United States, Canada, the United Kingdom and in the world. In
2000, EMCOR had revenues of more than $3.46 billion. EMCOR
provides services to a broad range of commercial, industrial,
utility, and institutional customers through approximately 45
principal operating subsidiaries, including its majority interest in
a limited liability company that provides facilities services to over
2,500 buildings with more than 70 million square feet of space.
These businesses have offices in 32 states and the District of
Columbia in the United States, seven provinces in Canada and
ten primary locations in the United Kingdom. In the United Arab
Emirates, Saudi Arabia and South Africa, EMCOR carries on
business through subsidiaries and joint ventures. EMCOR’s 
executive offices are located at 101 Merritt Seven Corporate Park,
Norwalk, Connecticut 06851-1060, and its telephone number at
those offices is (203) 849-7800.

EMCOR specializes in the design, integration, installation,
start-up, operation and maintenance of:

•  Systems for generation and distribution of
electrical power;

•  Lighting systems;
•  Low-voltage systems, such as fire alarm, security,

communications and process control systems;
•  Voice and data communications systems;
•  Heating, ventilation, air conditioning, refrigeration 

and clean-room process ventilation systems; and
•  Plumbing, process and high-purity piping systems.

EMCOR also provides services needed to support the
operation of customers’ facilities, which services are not related
to customers’ construction programs. These services, frequently
referred to as facilities services, include site-based operations and
maintenance, mobile maintenance and service, small modification
and retrofit projects, consulting, program development and 
management for energy systems, and maintenance of facilities.
Facilities services are provided to a wide range of commercial,
industrial, utility and institutional facilities, including those at
which EMCOR provided construction services and others at
which construction services were provided by other contractors.
EMCOR’s varied facilities services are frequently combined to
provide integrated service packages which include mechanical,
electrical and other services.

EMCOR provides mechanical and electrical construction
services and facilities services directly to corporations,
municipalities and other governmental entities, owners/developers
and tenants of buildings. It also provides these services indirectly
by acting as a subcontractor to construction managers, general
contractors, systems suppliers and other subcontractors.
Worldwide, EMCOR employs approximately 22,000 people.

EMCOR’s revenues are derived from many different 
customers in numerous industries which have operations in 
several different geographical areas. Of EMCOR’s 2000 revenues,
approximately 80% were generated in the United States and
approximately 20% were generated internationally. In 2000,
approximately 43% of revenues were derived from new 

construction projects and approximately 57% of revenues were
derived from renovation and retrofit of customers’ existing facilities
and from EMCOR’s facilities services operations (renovation
and retrofit work and facilities services operations are sometimes
referred to by stock analysts as maintenance, repair and 
replacement or “MRR”). Approximately 84% of 2000 revenues
were generated from both new construction and renovation 
and retrofit projects, and approximately 16% of 2000 revenues
were generated from facilities services operations. For the period
1997 through 2000, revenues and EBITDA grew at compound
annual growth rates of 21.1% and 38.7%, respectively.

The Business
The broad scope of EMCOR’s operations is more particularly
described below.

Mechanical and Electrical Construction Services and 
Facilities Services
EMCOR believes that the mechanical and electrical construction
services and facilities services business is highly fragmented,
consisting of thousands of small companies across the United
States and around the world. Because EMCOR has total assets,
annual revenues, net worth, access to bank credit and surety
bonding, and expertise significantly greater than most of its
competitors, EMCOR believes it has a significant competitive
advantage. The mechanical and electrical construction services
industry has a higher growth rate than the overall construction
industry, due principally to the increase in content and complexity
of mechanical and electrical systems in all types of projects. This
increased content and complexity is, in part, a result of the
expanded use of computers and more technologically advanced
voice and data communications, lighting, and environmental 
control systems in all types of facilities. For these reasons, buildings
of all types consume more electricity per square foot than in 
the past and thus need more extensive electrical distribution 
systems. In addition, advanced voice and data communication
systems require more sophisticated power supplies and extensive
low voltage and fiber-optic communications cabling. Moreover,
the need for greater environmental controls within a building,
such as the heightened need for climate control to maintain
extensive computer systems at optimal temperatures, and the
growing demand for environmental control in individual spaces,
have created expanded opportunities for the mechanical and
electrical construction services and facilities services business.

Mechanical and electrical construction services primarily
involve the design, integration, installation and start-up of:
(1) systems for the generation and distribution of electrical
power, including power cables, conduits, distribution panels,
transformers, generators, uninterruptible power supply systems
and related switch gear and controls; (2) lighting systems,
including fixtures and controls; (3) low-voltage systems,
including fire alarm, security, and process control systems;
(4) voice and data communications systems, including fiber-
optic and low-voltage copper cabling; (5) heating, ventilation,
air conditioning (collectively, “HVAC”), refrigeration and 
clean-room process ventilation systems and (6) plumbing,
process and high-purity piping systems.

Business Overview
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Business Overview

Mechanical and electrical construction services generally
fall into one of two categories: (1) large installation projects
with contracts often in the multi-million dollar range that
involve construction of industrial and commercial buildings and
institutional and public works facilities or the fit-out of large
blocks of space within commercial buildings and (2) smaller
installation projects typically involving fit-out, renovation and
retrofit work.

EMCOR’s mechanical and electrical construction services
operations accounted for about 84% of its 2000 revenues, of
which approximately 52% was related to new construction and
approximately 48% was related to renovation and retrofit projects.
EMCOR provides mechanical and electrical construction 
services for both large and small installation and renovation
projects. Its largest projects include those (1) for institutional
use (such as water and wastewater treatment facilities, hospitals,
correctional facilities, schools and research laboratories); (2) for
industrial use (such as pharmaceutical factories, steel, pulp and
paper mills, chemical, automotive and semiconductor plants, and
oil refineries); (3) for transportation systems (such as airports
and transit systems) and (4) for commercial use (such as office
buildings, data centers, hotels, casinos, convention centers,
sports stadiums, shopping malls and resorts). EMCOR’s largest
projects, typically in excess of $10.0 million, are usually 
multi-year projects and range in size up to, and occasionally 
in excess of, $50.0 million. These projects represented about
25% of EMCOR’s construction services revenues in 2000.

EMCOR’s projects of less than $10.0 million accounted for
approximately 75% of 2000 construction services revenues. These
projects are typically completed in less than a year. They usually
involve mechanical and electrical construction services when an
end-user or owner undertakes construction or modification of a
facility to accommodate a specific use. These projects frequently
require mechanical and electrical systems to meet special needs
such as redundant power supply systems, special environmental
controls and high-purity air systems, sophisticated electrical and
mechanical systems for data centers, including those associated
with internet service providers and electronic commerce,
trading floors in financial services businesses, new production
lines in manufacturing plants and office arrangements in 
existing office buildings. These types of projects are not usually
dependent upon the new construction market. Demand for
them is often prompted by the expiration of leases, changes in
technology or changes in the customer’s plant or office layout in
the normal course of a customer’s business.

EMCOR performs its services pursuant to contracts 
with owners, such as corporations, municipalities and other
governmental entities, general contractors, systems suppliers,
construction managers, developers, other subcontractors and
tenants of commercial properties. Institutional and public 
works projects are frequently long-term, complex projects that
require significant technical and management skills and the
financial strength to, among other things, obtain bid and 
performance bonds, which are often a condition to bidding for,
and award of these projects.

EMCOR also installs and maintains street, highway,
bridge and tunnel lighting, traffic signals, computerized traffic
control systems and signal and communication systems for mass

transit systems in several metropolitan areas. In addition, in the
United States, EMCOR manufactures and installs sheet metal air
handling systems for both its own mechanical construction
operations and for unrelated mechanical contractors. EMCOR
also maintains welding and pipe fabrication shops for some of
its own mechanical operations.

EMCOR also provides customers with facility support
services which are not related to construction projects. These
services, frequently referred to as facilities services, generated
approximately 16% of 2000 revenues. Following completion 
of construction projects, EMCOR has historically provided 
technical support services to many of its customers, involving
maintenance and service of mechanical and electrical systems
and small modification and retrofit projects that support their
day-to-day needs. In addition, EMCOR provides other services
to owners, operators, tenants and managers of all types of
facilities both on a contract basis for a specified period of time
and on an individual task order basis.

Facilities services include customer-based operations and
maintenance, mobile maintenance service, small modification
and retrofit projects, consulting, program development and
management for energy systems and maintenance activities.
These services are provided to a wide range of commercial,
industrial and institutional facilities, including both those for
which EMCOR provided construction services and those 
for which construction services were provided by others. The
services are frequently bundled to provide integrated service
packages and may include services in addition to EMCOR’s core
mechanical and electrical services.

EMCOR has experienced an expansion in the demand 
for its facilities services which it believes is driven by customers’
downsizing programs and their focus on their own core 
competencies, the increasing technical complexity of their 
facilities and their mechanical, electrical, voice and data and
other systems, and the need for increased reliability, especially 
in mechanical and electrical systems. These trends have led to
outsourcing and privatization programs whereby customers in
both the private and public sectors seek to contract out those
activities that support but are not directly involved in the 
customer’s business.

In the early 1990’s, the market for facilities services grew
rapidly in the United Kingdom as a result of government 
initiatives. EMCOR’s United Kingdom subsidiary expanded its
traditional technical service business in response to these 
opportunities and established a dedicated unit to focus on the
facilities services business. This unit currently provides a full
range of facilities services to public and private sector customers
under multi-year agreements, including maintaining British
Airways’ facilities at Heathrow and Gatwick Airports, the new
British Library, the Department of Trade and Industry offices in
London, and the new Jubilee Line Extension of the London
Underground. In the United Kingdom, EMCOR also provides
facilities services at several manufacturing plants for various
British Aerospace and Rolls Royce facilities. In addition, the
United Kingdom operations provide on-call and mobile service
support on a task-order or contract basis, small renovation 
project work, data communications, security system installation,
and maintenance services.
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Business Overview

EMCOR, by virtue of its construction and facilities 
services expertise, is involved with private finance initiatives
(“PFIs”) sponsored by the British government. The PFIs, which
involve governmental bodies responsible, among other things,
for the national healthcare system, social security, air traffic
control, schools, and hospitals, seek to transfer ownership 
and management of United Kingdom government facilities,
including office buildings and institutional buildings, to groups
of financial institutions, consulting service organizations,
and others, which competitively bid for PFI contracts. EMCOR
has been awarded several contracts by such groups to provide
mechanical and electrical services, ground maintenance and
other ancillary services for periods typically ranging from 5 to
35 years at buildings which were formerly owned and managed
by government bodies and privatized as part of the PFI 
program. EMCOR has built on its United Kingdom experience
to market its facilities services business to international markets
and currently provides facilities services through joint ventures
to several companies in South Africa.

In 1997, EMCOR established a new subsidiary to expand
its facilities services operations in North America patterned 
on its United Kingdom business. This unit seeks to build on
existing mechanical and electrical services capabilities, facilities
services activities at existing subsidiaries, and EMCOR’s client
relationships in order to expand the scope of services currently
offered and to develop packages of services for customers on a
regional, national and global basis. EMCOR’s North American
facilities services strategy includes initiation and expansion of
facilities services operations at subsidiaries that provide
mechanical and electrical construction services, including the
offering of bundled facilities services programs, integrating two
or more services, and development of facilities services business
independent of construction services through an acquisition
program. In addition, management also has targeted growth 
in facilities services opportunities arising from the deregulation 
of the electric utility industry, deregulation and expansion of
the telecommunications industry and the REIT-driven 
consolidation of the commercial real estate industry.

In April 2000, EMCOR and CB Richard Ellis Inc., a
nationwide real estate management company, created a limited
liability company, in which EMCOR has a majority interest,
which provides facilities services to approximately 2,500 
buildings with over 70 million square feet of space in 32 states.
The facilities services, which had been provided by a division of
CB Richard Ellis Inc., consist of the operation, maintenance 
and supervision of building systems including heating, air 
conditioning, plumbing, lighting, ventilating, electrical control
and energy management systems.

The deregulation of, and increased competition in, the
utility industry, along with government mandates calling for
reduced energy consumption by government entities, have led to
renewed focus on energy costs and conservation measures. These
measures typically include energy assessments and engineering
studies, retrofit construction to implement energy savings 
measures, and the long-term operation and maintenance of
energy savings measures to ensure continued performance.
Various subsidiaries of EMCOR participate in energy savings
programs, and EMCOR believes it has the ability to be a single-

source provider of construction and facilities services required
for energy assessment and for design, installation, and operations
and maintenance of energy savings measures.

As part of its expansion of its facilities services business,
during 1998, EMCOR acquired a Bakersfield, California based
maintenance program consulting service firm, a Los Angeles,
California area based mobile, mechanical services firm and a
Richmond, Virginia based industrial facilities services firm to
expand its capabilities in this field. In 1999, EMCOR acquired 
a Boston, Massachusetts based firm that provides mobile 
services in the New England area and site based operations 
and maintenance services throughout the Eastern United States.
These acquisitions permit EMCOR to offer integrated 
construction and operations and maintenance services.

The deregulation and expansion of the telecommunications
industry have led to a rapid expansion of installed infrastructure,
including wireless communication systems and long distance 
networks, much of which has been built by companies that do not
have existing maintenance operations and which seek to contract
out such services. EMCOR has provided construction services for
the infrastructure of telecommunications companies and facilities
services to support their operations. In this industry, EMCOR 
has worked on facilities owned by such service providers as 
Sprint, AT&T, and MCI WorldCom, has installed and maintained 
equipment for suppliers such as Lucent, Nortel, and Siemens,
and has provided construction and maintenance services to 
competitive local-service providers and to users who maintain
their own systems.

EMCOR has also provided construction and maintenance
services to many internet service providers in support of their
data center facilities. These customers include Metromedia Fiber
Network, Exodus Communications and Qwest Communications
International.

EMCOR offers facilities services to customers on single-
task and multi-task bases depending on a customer’s needs,
under either short-term or multi-year agreements. EMCOR’s
services often require that its employees be permanently
assigned to customer premises twenty-four hours per day.

EMCOR believes mechanical and electrical construction
services and facilities services activities are complementary,
permitting it to offer customers a comprehensive package of
services. The ability to offer both construction and facilities
services should enhance EMCOR’s competitive position 
with customers. Furthermore, EMCOR’s facilities services 
operations tend to be less cyclical than its construction 
operations because facilities services are more responsive to 
the needs of an industry’s operations requirements rather 
than its construction requirements.
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The following selected financial data has been derived from audited financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the 
consolidated financial statements, the related notes thereto and the report of independent public accountants thereon, included elsewhere in 
this annual report and in previously filed annual reports on Form 10-K of EMCOR.

(In thousands, except per share data) Years Ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Income Statement Data
Revenues $ 3,460,204 $ 2,893,962 $ 2,210,374 $ 1,950,868 $ 1,669,274
Gross profit 357,817 295,907 223,287 182,183 160,788
Operating income 78,925 58,091 37,224 27,414 17,114
Income before extraordinary items 40,089 27,821 17,092 8,581 9,437
Extraordinary items – loss on early extinguishment 

of debt, net of income taxes – – (4,777) (1,004) –
Net income $ 40,089 $ 27,821 $ 12,315 $ 7,577 $ 9,437

Basic earnings per share: (a) 
Income before extraordinary items $ 3.84 $ 2.86 $ 1.67 $ 0.90 $ 1.00
Extraordinary items – loss on early extinguishment 

of debt, net of income taxes – – (0.47) (0.11) –
Basic earnings per share $ 3.84 $ 2.86 $ 1.20 $ 0.79 $ 1.00

Diluted earnings per share: (a) 
Income before extraordinary items $ 2.95 $ 2.21 $ 1.46 $ 0.84 $ 0.96
Extraordinary items – loss on early extinguishment 

of debt, net of income taxes – – (0.35) (0.10) –
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.95 $ 2.21 $ 1.11 $ 0.74 $ 0.96

(In thousands, except per share data) As of December 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Balance Sheet Data
Stockholders’ equity (b) $ 233,503 $ 170,249 $ 119,816 $ 95,323 $ 83,883
Total assets $ 1,261,864 $ 1,052,246 $ 801,002 $ 660,654 $ 620,700
Goodwill $ 67,625 $ 68,009 $ 22,745 $ 927 –
Notes payable – $ 1,150 $ 8,314 – –
Borrowings under working capital credit lines – – – $ 9,497 $ 14,200
Other long-term debt, including current maturities $ 116,056 $ 116,534 $ 116,086 $ 62,657 $ 72,405
Capital lease obligations $ 573 $ 554 $ 837 $ 1,482 $ 1,007

(a) Effective December 31, 1997, EMCOR adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”. Accordingly, earnings per share information for years
prior to December 31, 1997 has been restated to conform to this presentation.

(b) No cash dividends on EMCOR’s common stock have been paid during the past five years.

Selected Financial Data
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% of % of % of
(In millions, except for percentages) 2000 Total 1999 Total 1998 Total

Revenues:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $  1,350.7 39% $     993.1 34% $  888.6 40%
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 1,253.7 36% 1,053.7 36% 599.6 27%
United States other services 172.3 5% 96.2 3% 14.4 1%

Total United States operations 2,776.7 80% 2,143.0 74% 1,502.6 68%
Canada construction and facilities services 237.0 7% 196.7 7% 201.9 9%
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 446.2 13% 553.7 19% 493.3 22%
Other international construction and facilities services 0.3 – 0.6 – 12.6 1%

Total worldwide operations $  3,460.2 100% $  2,894.0 100% $  2,210.4 100%

Highlights
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000 were 
$3.46 billion, compared to $2.89 billion and $2.21 billion for the
years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Income
before extraordinary item was $40.1 million for 2000, an increase 
of $12.3 million, or 44.1%, from $27.8 million for 1999. For 1998,
income before extraordinary item was $17.1 million. Diluted 
earnings per share on income before extraordinary item were 
$2.95 per share for 2000, compared to $2.21 per share for 1999 
and $1.46 per share for 1998.

Operating Segments
EMCOR’s business consists of the following operating segments:
United States electrical construction and facilities services, United
States mechanical construction and facilities services, Canada 
construction and facilities services and United Kingdom 
construction and facilities services. United States other services 
primarily represents those operations which principally provide
consulting and maintenance services. Other international 
construction and facilities services represents EMCOR’s operations
outside of the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom,
primarily South Africa and the Middle East, performing electrical
construction, mechanical construction and facilities services.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

Results of Operations
Revenues
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000 increased 19.6%
to $3.46 billion, compared to $2.89 billion of revenues for 1999.
The $566.2 million increase in revenues for 2000 compared to
1999 was attributable to revenue growth from EMCOR’s 
operations (excluding Building Technology Engineers of
North America, LLC (“BTENA”) and 1999 acquisitions) of
$420.2 million, and to revenues from BTENA and 1999 
acquisitions which approximated $146.0 million in incremental
revenues during 2000. Revenues for 1999 of $2.89 billion 
represented a 30.9% increase over revenues of $2.21 billion for
1998. Companies acquired during 1999 and 1998 accounted for
approximately $476.1 million of the $683.6 million increase in
1999 revenues over 1998.

The following table presents EMCOR’s revenues by 
operating segment and the approximate percentage of total 
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:
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Revenues for EMCOR’s United States electrical 
construction and facilities services segment for 2000 increased 
by $357.6 million, or 36.0%, compared to 1999. The increase in
revenues was due to favorable market conditions for most of the
business units in the segment, and was primarily attributable 
to both new construction and renovation and retrofit jobs for
commercial construction and the communication infrastructure
and technology markets. Offsetting this overall increase was a
decrease in new construction revenues for casino work, although
this was partially offset by increased renovation and retrofit casino
work. Additionally, certain industrial construction related 
renovation and retrofit revenues decreased principally due to these
facilities not having as many shut-downs in production to perform
major maintenance during 2000. The $104.5 million, or 11.8%,
increase in 1999 revenues compared to 1998, was attributable to
$23.0 million of revenues from companies acquired during 1999
and 1998 and $81.5 million, or a 9.2% increase, due to growth
from the balance of EMCOR’s United States electrical construction
and facilities services businesses.

United States mechanical construction and facilities services
revenues increased $200.0 million, or 19.0%. The increase in 
revenues was primarily attributable to revenue growth from
EMCOR’s operations excluding acquisitions. Revenues from the
impact of 1999 acquisitions contributed toward approximately
$77.5 million of the increase. Eastern and Western United States
based operations were the major contributors to the increase in
revenue due to the continued strong renovation market and new
construction markets in New York City, Houston, Connecticut,
Denver and California. A $454.1 million, or 75.7%, increase 
in revenues for 1999 compared to 1998 was attributable to 
$377.5 million of revenues related to 1999 and 1998 acquisitions,
and $76.6 million of the increase in revenues, or a 12.8% increase,
was due to growth from the balance of EMCOR’s United States
mechanical construction and facilities services.

United States other revenues increased by $76.1 million for
2000 compared to 1999. The primary source of the increase in
2000 was revenues of $68.6 million from BTENA and companies
acquired during 1999, as well as increases from the balance of
EMCOR’s other United States operations. Revenues for 1999

increased by $81.8 million versus 1998, primarily attributable to
revenues of $75.6 million from companies acquired during 1999
and 1998 and revenues from the balance of EMCOR’s United
States other operations.

Revenues of Canada construction and facilities services
increased by $40.3 million, or 20.5%, for 2000 as compared to
1999 revenues. The increase in revenues for 2000 compared with
1999 was primarily due to an increased level of activities in Eastern
Canada, especially in the second half of 2000. The $5.2 million, or
2.6%, decrease in revenues for 1999 compared with 1998 was
attributable to a reduced level of activities in Eastern Canada and
from delays during 1999 in the commencement of certain projects
caused by delays in the bidding process for certain jobs.

United Kingdom construction and facilities services revenues
decreased $107.5 million, or 19.4%, for 2000 compared to 1999
revenues principally due to the completion of the Jubilee Line
project in London at the end of 1999. The $60.4 million, or 12.2%,
increase in 1999 revenues compared with 1998 revenues was
attributable to continued growth in selected construction and
facilities markets, combined with an increase in revenues 
associated with two major projects.

Revenues of the Other international construction and 
facilities services decreased for 2000 to $0.3 million, compared 
to $0.6 million for 1999 and $12.6 million for 1998. Other 
international construction and facilities services primarily consist
of EMCOR’s operations in the Middle East. Substantially all of the
current projects in this operating segment are being performed by
joint ventures, and accordingly, no revenue attributable to such
joint ventures was recorded. In 1999, several projects in which
EMCOR had majority ownership were completed. EMCOR 
continues to pursue new business selectively in these markets;
however, the availability of opportunities has been significantly
reduced as a result of local economic factors.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition
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Cost of sales and gross profit
The following table presents EMCOR’s cost of sales, gross 
profit, and gross profit as a percentage of revenues, for the years
ended December 2000, 1999 and 1998:

Selling, general and administrative expenses
The following table presents EMCOR’s selling, general 
and administrative expenses, and selling, general and 
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues for the 
years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

Gross profit increased $61.9 million, or 20.9%, for 2000
compared to 1999. Gross profit as a percentage of revenues was
10.3% for 2000 compared to 10.2% for 1999. The increase in
gross profit was due to the increase in revenues of EMCOR’s
operations excluding acquisitions, as well as incremental gross
profit from companies acquired in 1999. The increase in gross
profit as a percentage of revenues was primarily a result of an
increase in gross profits on projects due to overall favorable
market conditions, partially offset by losses on jobs in the South
and North Carolina markets undertaken by EMCOR’s Poole &
Kent subsidiary prior to their acquisition by EMCOR. Gross
profit increased $72.6 million, or 32.5%, for 1999 compared to
1998, and gross profit as a percentage of revenues increased
0.1% for the 1999 period compared with 1998. The increase 
in gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of revenues was
primarily due to the mix of projects completed and in progress
during 1999.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 
$41.1 million, or 17.3%, between 2000 and 1999. As a percentage
of revenues, total selling, general and administrative expenses
decreased by 0.1% to 8.1% in 2000 as compared to 8.2% in 1999.
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $51.7 
million, or 27.8%, between 1999 and 1998. As a percentage of
revenues, total selling, general and administrative expenses
decreased by 0.2% to 8.2% in 1999 as compared to 8.4% in
1998. The dollar increase during 2000 compared to 1999 was
attributable to the increase in revenues and corresponding
increases in variable selling, general and administrative expenses
required to support the increased revenue base, incremental
fixed costs to support the current growth in operations, plus 
selling, general and administrative expenses associated with
BTENA and 1999 acquisitions. The decrease in selling, general
and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues was 
primarily due to the leveraging of fixed costs over increased 
revenues. The increase in selling, general and administrative
expenses for 1999 as compared to 1998 was primarily 
attributable to incremental selling, general and administrative
expenses from companies acquired during 1999 and 1998, as
well as the effect of the overall increase in revenues on variable
indirect overhead costs. The decrease of 0.2% in total selling,
general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues
was primarily due to the leveraging of fixed costs over increased
revenues and the generally lower total selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues for 
companies acquired during 1999 and 1998.

(In millions, except
for percentages) 2000 1999 1998

Cost of sales $ 3,102.4 $ 2,598.1 $ 1,987.1

Gross profit $ 357.8 $ 295.9 $ 223.3

Gross profit as 
a percentage
of revenues 10.3% 10.2% 10.1%

19EMCOR, 2000 Annual Report

(In millions, except for percentages) 2000 1999 1998

Selling, general & 
administrative expenses $ 278.9 $ 237.8 $ 186.1

Selling, general & administrative 
expenses as a percentage 
of revenues 8.1% 8.2% 8.4%

Selling, general & administrative 
expenses as a percentage 
of revenues, excluding 
amortization of goodwill 7.9% 8.1% 8.4%
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Operating income
The following table presents EMCOR’s operating income, and operating income as a percentage of segment revenues, for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:

Operating income increased for the United States electrical
construction and facilities services operations for 2000 compared
to 1999. The dollar increase in operating income for 2000 of $20.1
million, or 52.2%, as compared to 1999, was attributable to the
continuing favorable market conditions due to increased 
renovation projects as well as new construction spending,
particularly in Eastern and Western United States. As a percentage
of revenues, operating income increased by 0.4% for 2000 as 
compared to 1999. Operating income for 1999 for the United
States electrical construction and facilities services operations
increased $2.2 million, or 6.0%, from 1998 levels due to the effect
of businesses acquired during 1999 and 1998 as well as growth 
from the balance of EMCOR’s operations.

United States mechanical construction and facilities services
operations operating income decreased $1.4 million for 2000, a
3.7% decrease over 1999 amounts. The decrease was primarily 
due to losses on jobs in the South and North Carolina markets
undertaken by EMCOR’s Poole & Kent subsidiary prior to its
acquisition by EMCOR offsetting the increased operating income
for most of the operations in this segment. For 1999 compared
with 1998, operating income increased $16.9 million, or 80.5%,
primarily due to growth of EMCOR’s businesses and operating
income contributed by businesses acquired during 1999 and 1998.
As a percentage of revenues, operating income increased 0.1%
from 1998 to 1999 and decreased 0.7% from 1999 to 2000,
principally due to the reasons cited above.

United States other operating losses increased $1.6 million 
for 2000 as compared to 1999 primarily due to the continuing

development costs of the consulting and maintenance services
operations. These operating losses for 1999 compared to 1998
decreased by $0.4 million primarily due to operating income
from certain related businesses acquired during 1999 and 1998,
partially offset by costs of development for the consulting and
maintenance service operations.

Canada construction and facilities services operations 
operating income increased by $1.2 million for 2000 compared to
1999 principally due to an increased level of activities in Eastern
Canada. Operating income as a percentage of revenues increased
0.2% in 2000 compared to 1999 due to the jobs available in 2000
having higher gross profit margins. The 0.5% decrease in operating
income as a percentage of revenues for 1999 compared to 1998 was
primarily due to the decrease in revenues from Eastern Canada
operations, attributable, among other things, to the delay in 
commencing certain projects in 1999 caused by delays in the 
bidding process for certain jobs.

United Kingdom construction and facilities services operating
income increased by $2.8 million for 2000 compared to 1999. The
improvement was primarily attributable to the commencement 
of new projects that have resulted in higher gross profits in 2000
than in previous years due to improved market conditions.
For 1999, operating income increased to $3.2 million as 
compared to operating losses of $0.9 million for 1998. This
increase was attributable to growth in selected construction and
facilities services markets in the United Kingdom.
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% of % of % of
Segment Segment Segment

(In millions, except for percentages) 2000 Revenues 1999 Revenues 1998 Revenues

Operating income (loss):
United States electrical construction and

facilities services $ 58.6 4.3% $ 38.5 3.9% $ 36.3 4.1%
United States mechanical construction and

facilities services 36.4 2.9% 37.8 3.6% 21.0 3.5%
United States other (6.0) – (4.4) – (4.8) –
Total United States operations 89.0 3.2% 71.9 3.4% 52.5 3.5%
Canada construction and facilities services 5.2 2.2% 4.0 2.0% 5.0 2.5%
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 6.0 1.4% 3.2 0.6% (0.9) –
Other international construction and facilities services 0.5 – (0.3) – (1.3) –
Corporate administration (21.8) – (20.7) – (18.1) –
Total worldwide operations 78.9 2.3% 58.1 2.0% 37.2 1.7%

Other corporate items:
Interest expense (9.7) (10.5) (11.1)
Interest income 2.4 2.1 3.6
Income before taxes and extraordinary item $ 71.6 $ 49.7 $ 29.7
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General corporate expenses for 2000 increased by $1.1 million
from 1999 levels and increased by $2.6 million between 1999 and
1998. The increases are attributable to increased variable overhead
costs associated with the Company’s increased revenues, as well as
incremental fixed costs to support growth in operations.

Interest expense decreased by $0.8 million for 2000 compared
to 1999 and by $0.5 million in 1999 compared to 1998, principally
due to lower average outstanding borrowings.

Interest income increased by $0.3 million for 2000 compared
with 1999. Interest income decreased by $1.5 million for 1999
compared to 1998. This decrease for 1999 compared to 1998 was
due to reduced cash available to invest after approximately $55.8
million was utilized for acquisitions in 1999.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
On March 18, 1998, EMCOR sold, pursuant to underwritten 
public offerings, $115.0 million principal amount of 5.75% 
convertible subordinated notes and 1,100,000 shares of its 
common stock. Interest on the 5.75% convertible subordinated
notes is payable semi-annually. The 5.75% convertible 
subordinated notes are unsecured indebtedness of EMCOR 
and are convertible at any time into common stock of EMCOR 
at a conversion price of $27.34 per share.

During the third quarter of 1998, EMCOR’s Board of
Directors authorized a stock repurchase program under which
EMCOR may repurchase up to $20.0 million of its common 
stock. EMCOR did not repurchase shares during 2000 and, as of
December 31, 2000, EMCOR had repurchased 1,132,000 shares 
of its Common Stock at an aggregate cost of approximately 
$16.8 million.

Proceeds received from the sale of the 5.75% convertible 
subordinated notes along with proceeds from the sale of common
stock were used to (a) redeem EMCOR’s Series C Notes in the
aggregate principal amount of $61.9 million; (b) repay then 
outstanding borrowings under its working capital credit facility;
(c) prepay EMCOR’s note in the aggregate principal amount of
$5.5 million and accrued interest thereon payable to its subsidiary
Sellco and (d) fund its acquisition of certain businesses through
December 31, 1999.

The following table presents EMCOR’s net cash provided by
operating activities, net cash used in investing activities and net
cash (used in) provided by financing activities for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999:

The Company’s consolidated cash balance increased by 
$79.1 million from $58.6 million at December 31, 1999 to 
$137.7 million at December 31, 2000. Net cash provided by 
operating activities for 2000 was $91.4 million, an increase of
$56.9 million from $34.5 million for 1999. The cash provided by
operating activities was primarily due to increased net income,
decreased net inventories and contracts in progress, increased
accounts payable and accrued expenses, offset partially by
increased accounts receivable. Net cash used in investing activities
for 2000 of $11.1 million consisted primarily of $4.2 million for
acquisitions of businesses and related earn-out payments, net 
proceeds received from other investments of $7.0 million and
$16.7 million for the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
versus $55.8 million, $6.8 million and $10.7 million used for the
same activities for 1999, respectively. Net cash used in financing
activities for 2000 of $1.2 million was primarily due to the 
repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations.

On December 22, 1998, EMCOR and certain of its 
subsidiaries amended and restated a June 19, 1996 credit facility;
the amended credit facility provides EMCOR with a credit facility
for borrowings of up to $150.0 million. The amended credit 
facility, which has an expiration date of June 30, 2002, is 
guaranteed by certain direct and indirect subsidiaries of EMCOR.
It is secured by substantially all of the assets of EMCOR and those
subsidiaries, and it provides for borrowing capacity available in the
form of revolving loans and/or letters of credit. The amended
credit facility contains various covenants, including among other
things, maintenance of certain financial ratios, and significant
restrictions with respect to cumulative aggregate payments for 
dividends, common stock repurchases, investments, acquisitions,
indebtedness, capital expenditures, and prepayments of
subordinated debt, all as defined therein. The revolving loans bear
interest at (1) a rate which is the prime commercial lending rate
announced by Harris Trust and Savings Bank from time to time

(In millions) 2000 1999

Net cash provided by operating
activities $ 91.4 $ 34.5

Net cash used in investing
activities $ (11.1) $ (59.4)

Net cash (used in) provided by
financing activities $ (1.2) $ 0.4
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(9.5% at December 31, 2000) plus 0% to 0.5%, based on certain
financial tests or (2) at a LIBOR rate (6.3% at December 31, 2000)
plus 1.25% to 2.0% based on certain financial tests. The interest
rates in effect at December 31, 2000 were 9.5% and 7.6%,
respectively. Letters of credit fees issued under the credit facility
ranging from 0.5% to 2.0% are charged based on type of letters 
of credit issued and certain financial tests. As of December 31,
2000 and 1999, EMCOR had approximately $12.1 million and 
$17.4 million of letters of credit outstanding, respectively. No
revolving loans were outstanding under the credit facility at
December 31, 2000 or 1999.

In December 2000, the Company’s Canadian subsidiary,
Comstock Canada Ltd., renewed a credit agreement with a bank
providing for an overdraft facility of up to C$0.5 million.
The facility is secured by a standby letter of credit and provides for
interest at the bank’s prime rate (7.5% at December 31, 2000).
There were no borrowings outstanding under this credit 
agreement at December 31, 2000 or 1999. The Canadian 
subsidiary may utilize EMCOR’s credit facility for its working 
capital requirements.

In 1998, EMCOR issued notes in connection with the 
acquisition of two companies. A principal payment of $1.0 million
was made in August 1999 in respect of one note issued in August
1998, and a principal payment of the balance of $1.15 million was
made in respect of that note in August 2000. Interest on the note
was paid together with payments of principal. The other note,
issued in the principal amount of $6.2 million in December 1998,
was paid in full in January 1999.

The Company believes that current cash balances and 
borrowing capacity available under lines of credit, combined with
cash expected to be generated from operations, will be sufficient to
provide short-term and foreseeable long-term liquidity and meet
expected capital expenditure requirements.

Certain Insurance Matters
As of December 31, 2000, EMCOR was utilizing approximately
$12.1 million of letters of credit obtained under its working capital
credit facility as collateral for its current insurance obligations.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”).
SFAS 133, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities-Deferral of the Effective Date of SFAS No. 133”,
and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138
“Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS 138”), establishes for fiscal quarters of fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2000 accounting and reporting 

standards requiring derivative instruments, as defined, to be 
measured in the financial statements at fair value. SFAS 133 also
requires that changes in the derivative instruments’ fair value be
recognized currently in earnings unless certain accounting criteria
are met. EMCOR has evaluated this standard and has concluded
that the provisions of SFAS 133 will have no significant effect on
the financial condition or results of operations of EMCOR.

In September 2000, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities” (“SFAS 140”). SFAS 140 is a 
replacement of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
125. SFAS 140 provides accounting and reporting standards for
transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishment of
liabilities occurring after March 31, 2001. EMCOR has evaluated
this standard and has concluded that the provisions of SFAS 140
will not have a significant effect on the financial conditions or
results of operations of EMCOR.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About 
Market Risk
EMCOR is exposed to market risk for changes in interest rates for
borrowings under its working capital credit facility. The working
capital credit facility bears interest at variable rates, and the fair
value of this borrowing is not significantly affected by changes in
market interest rates.

Amounts invested in EMCOR’s foreign operations are 
translated into U. S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at year
end. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as 
accumulated other comprehensive income, a component of
stockholders’ equity, in the consolidated balance sheets.

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Reform Act of 1995,
particularly statements regarding market opportunities, market share
growth, competitive growth, gross profit, and selling, general and
administrative expenses. These forward-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties, that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those in any such forward-looking statements.
Such factors include, but are not limited to adverse changes in general
economic conditions, including changes in the specific markets for the
Company’s services, adverse business conditions, decreased or lack of
growth in the mechanical and electrical construction and facilities
services industries, increased competition, pricing pressures and risk
associated with foreign operations and other factors.
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(In thousands, except share and per share data) December 31, 2000 1999

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 137,685 $ 58,552
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $36,917 and $31,083, respectively 825,803 713,593
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 158,073 142,000
Inventories 6,909 9,776
Prepaid expenses and other 10,290 9,018

Total current assets 1,138,760 932,939
Investments, notes and other long-term receivables 10,364 8,216
Property, plant and equipment, net 38,959 36,509
Goodwill, less accumulated amortization of $8,822 and $4,204, respectively 67,625 68,009
Other assets 6,156 6,573
Total assets $ 1,261,864 $ 1,052,246

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations $ 751 $ 2,235
Accounts payable 365,139 342,917
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 314,929 216,152
Accrued payroll and benefits 103,897 84,496
Other accrued expenses and liabilities 67,671 67,539

Total current liabilities 852,387 713,339
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 115,878 116,003
Other long-term obligations 60,096 52,655
Total liabilities 1,028,361 881,997
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock, $0.10 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, 

zero issued and outstanding – –
Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized, 

10,470,624 and 10,427,690 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 117 117
Capital surplus 167,742 142,894
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,906) (2,223)
Retained earnings 86,386 46,297
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,131,990 and 1,131,995 shares, respectively (16,836) (16,836)
Total stockholders’ equity 233,503 170,249
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,261,864 $ 1,052,246

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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(In thousands, except per share data) For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

Revenues $ 3,460,204 $ 2,893,962 $ 2,210,374
Cost of sales 3,102,387 2,598,055 1,987,087
Gross profit 357,817 295,907 223,287
Selling, general and administrative expenses 278,892 237,816 186,063
Operating income 78,925 58,091 37,224
Interest expense (9,705) (10,520) (11,041)
Interest income 2,367 2,107 3,558
Income before income taxes and extraordinary item 71,587 49,678 29,741
Income tax provision 31,498 21,857 12,649
Income before extraordinary item 40,089 27,821 17,092
Extraordinary item - loss on early extinguishment of debt, 

net of income taxes – – (4,777)
Net income $ 40,089 $ 27,821 $ 12,315
Basic earnings per share:
Income before extraordinary item $ 3.84 $ 2.86 $ 1.67
Extraordinary item - loss on early extinguishment of debt, 

net of income taxes – – (0.47)
Basic earnings per share $ 3.84 $ 2.86 $ 1.20
Diluted earnings per share:
Income before extraordinary item $ 2.95 $ 2.21 $ 1.46
Extraordinary item - loss on early extinguishment of debt,

net of income taxes – – (0.35)
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.95 $ 2.21 $ 1.11

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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(In thousands) For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 40,089 $ 27,821 $ 12,315
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided

by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 11,483 10,675 9,846
Amortization of goodwill 4,618 3,418 734
Provision for doubtful accounts 6,419 5,967 3,508
Non-cash expense for amortization of debt issuance costs 1,236 1,236 408
Provision in lieu of income taxes 24,422 15,645 8,151
Non-cash portion of extraordinary item – – 3,152
Other, net – – 416

88,267 64,762 38,530
Change in operating assets and liabilities excluding effect 
of businesses acquired:

Increase in accounts receivable (118,629) (96,875) (27,219)
Decrease in inventories and contracts in progress, net 76,376 17,784 1,236
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 22,222 36,830 (3,522)
Increase in accrued payroll and benefits and other accrued
expenses and liabilities 19,533 6,633 20,363
Changes in other assets and liabilities, net 3,667 5,371 5,924

Net cash provided by operating activities 91,436 34,505 35,312
Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from sale of assets 2,765 347 308
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (16,698) (10,737) (10,946)
Payments for acquisitions of businesses and related earn-out agreements (4,234) (55,782) (28,520)
Net proceeds (disbursements) from other investments 7,047 6,810 (1,073)

Net cash used in investing activities (11,120) (59,362) (40,231)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from working capital credit lines 722,829 306,400 –
Repayments of working capital credit lines (722,829) (306,400) (9,497)
Net repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations (1,609) (7,012) (1,840)
Repayment and redemption of Series C Notes – – (61,854)
Net proceeds from exercise of stock options 426 221 518
Premiums paid on early extinguishment of debt – – (2,437)
Repayment and redemption of Supplemental SellCo Note – – (5,464)
Issuance of convertible subordinated notes – – 115,000
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants – 10,015 –

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock – – 22,485
Purchase of common stock – (2,868) (13,968)
Debt issuance costs – – (4,347)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,183) 356 38,596
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 79,133 (24,501) 33,677
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 58,552 83,053 49,376
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 137,685 $ 58,552 $ 83,053

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Accumulated
other 

Total compre- Compre-
Stockholders’ Common Capital hensive Retained Treasury hensive

(In thousands) equity stock Warrants surplus loss (1) earnings stock income

Balance, December 31, 1997 $ 95,323 $ 96 $ 2,154 $ 87,107 $ (195) $ 6,161 $ –
Net income 12,315 – – – – 12,315 – $ 12,315
Foreign currency translation

adjustments (1,627) – – – (1,627) – – (1,627)
Comprehensive income – – – – – – – $ 10,688
Provision in lieu of income taxes,

net of benefit of extraordinary
item of $3,381 4,770 – – 4,770 – – –

Issuance of common stock 22,485 11 – 22,474 – – –
Common stock issued under

stock option plans 518 2 – 516 – – –
Treasury stock, at cost (13,968) – – – – – (13,968)

Balance, December 31, 1998 119,816 109 2,154 114,867 (1,822) 18,476 (13,968)
Net income 27,821 – – – – 27,821 – $ 27,821
Foreign currency translation

adjustments (401) – – – (401) – – (401)
Comprehensive income – – – – – – – $ 27,420
Provision in lieu of income taxes 15,645 – – 15,645 – – –
Common stock issued pursuant

to warrants exercised 10,015 7 (1,190) 11,198 – – –
Value of expired warrants – – (964) 964 – – –
Common stock issued under

stock option plans 221 1 – 220 – – –
Treasury stock, at cost (2,868) – – – – – (2,868)

Balance, December 31, 1999 170,249 117 – 142,894 (2,223) 46,297 (16,836)
Net income 40,089 – – – – 40,089 – $ 40,089

Foreign currency translation
adjustments (1,683) – – – (1,683) – – (1,683)

Comprehensive income – – – – – – – $ 38,406

Provision in lieu of income taxes 24,422 – – 24,422 – – –

Common stock issued under
stock option plans 426 – – 426 – – –

Treasury stock, at cost – – – – – – –

Balance, December 31, 2000 $ 233,503 $ 117 – $ 167,742 $ (3,906) $ 86,386 $ (16,836)

(1) Represents cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Note A – Nature of Operations

EMCOR Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and subsidiaries
(“EMCOR”) is one of the largest mechanical and electrical 
construction and facilities services firms in the United States,
Canada, the United Kingdom and in the world. EMCOR specializes
in the design, integration and installation, start-up of: (1) systems
for the generation and distribution of electrical power, including
power cables, conduits, distribution panels, transformers, generators,
uninterruptible power supply systems and related switch gear and
controls; (2) lighting systems, including fixtures and controls;
(3) low-voltage systems, including fire alarm, security, and process
control systems; (4) voice and data communications systems,
including fiber-optic and low voltage copper cabling; (5) heating,
ventilation, air conditioning (collectively, “HVAC”), refrigeration
and clean-room process ventilation systems and (6) plumbing,
process and high-purity piping systems. EMCOR provides 
mechanical and electrical construction services and facilities services 
directly to corporations, municipalities and other governmental
entities, owners/developers, and tenants of buildings. It also provides
these services indirectly by acting as a subcontractor to construction
managers, general contractors, systems suppliers and other 
subcontractors. Mechanical and electrical construction services
generally fall into one of two categories: (1) large installation 
projects with contracts often in the multi-million dollar range that
involve construction of industrial and commercial buildings and
institutional and public works facilities or the fit-out of large blocks
of space within commercial buildings and (2) smaller installation
projects typically involving fit-out, renovation and retrofit work.
In addition, EMCOR also provides services needed to support 
a customer’s facilities not related to construction projects. These
services, frequently referred to as facilities services, include 
customer based operations and maintenance, mobile maintenance
and service, small modification and retrofit projects, consulting,
program development and management for energy systems, and
maintenance of facilities. These services are provided to a wide range
of commercial, industrial, and institutional buildings including 
facilities at which EMCOR provided construction services and at
which construction services were provided by others. Facilities 
services are frequently bundled to provide integrated service 
packages and may include services in addition to EMCOR’s core
mechanical and electrical services.

Note B – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
EMCOR and its majority-owned subsidiaries. Significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Investments over which EMCOR exercises significant influence, but
does not control (generally a 20% to 50% ownership interest), are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Principles of Preparation
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with United States generally accepted accounting 
principles requires EMCOR to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues

and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications of prior years data have been made in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements where appropriate
to conform to the current presentation.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from long-term contracts are recognized on the 
percentage-of-completion method. Percentage-of-completion is
measured principally by the percentage of costs incurred and
accrued to date for each contract to the estimated total costs for
each contract at completion. Certain of EMCOR’s electrical 
contracting business units measure percentage-of-completion by
the percentage of labor costs incurred to date for each contract to
the estimated total labor costs for such contract. Revenues from 
services contracts are recognized as services are provided.

Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts 
are made in the period in which such losses are determined. In
forecasting ultimate profitability on certain contracts, estimated
recoveries are included for work performed under customer
change orders to contracts for which firm prices have not yet been
negotiated. Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation process,
it is reasonably possible that completion costs, including those arising
from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, will
be revised in the near-term. Such revisions to costs and income are
recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined.

Costs and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted
contracts arise when revenues have been recorded but the 
amounts cannot be billed under the terms of the contracts. Such
amounts are recoverable from customers upon various measures 
of performance, including achievement of certain milestones,
completion of specified units or completion of the contract.

Also included in costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted
contracts are amounts EMCOR seeks or will seek to collect from
customers or others for errors or changes in contract specifications
or design, contract change orders in dispute or unapproved as 
to both scope and price, or other customer-related causes of
unanticipated additional contract costs (claims and unapproved
change orders). These amounts are recorded at their estimated net
realizable value when realization is probable and can be reasonably 
estimated. No profit is recognized on the construction costs
incurred in connection with these amounts. Unapproved change
orders involve the use of estimates, and it is reasonably possible
that revisions to the estimated recoverable amounts of recorded 
unapproved change orders may be made in the near-term. Claims
made by EMCOR involve negotiation and, in certain cases,
litigation. EMCOR expenses litigation costs as incurred, although 
it may seek to recover these costs as part of the claim. EMCOR
believes that it has established legal basis for pursuing recovery of
recorded claims, and it is management’s intention to pursue 
and litigate these claims, if necessary, until a decision or settlement
is reached. Claims also involve the use of estimates, and it is 
reasonably possible that revisions to the estimated recoverable
amounts of recorded claims may be made in the near-term. Claims
against EMCOR are recognized when a loss is considered probable
and amounts are reasonably determinable.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts and
related amounts billed as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 were as
follows (in thousands):

Such amounts were included in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2000 and 1999 under
the following captions (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2000, costs and estimated earnings in
excess of billings on uncompleted contracts included unbilled 
revenues for unapproved change orders of approximately $19.7
million and claims of approximately $12.8 million. In addition,
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2000 includes claims 
and contractually billed amounts related to such contracts of
approximately $20.1 million. Claims and related amounts 
included in accounts receivable aggregated approximately $28.3
million as of December 31, 1999. Generally, contractually billed
amounts will not be paid by the customer to EMCOR until final
resolution of related claims.

Classification of Contract Amounts
In accordance with industry practice, EMCOR classifies as 
current all assets and liabilities related to the performance of
long-term contracts. The contracting cycle for certain long-term
contracts may extend beyond one year and, accordingly, collection
or payment of amounts related to these contracts may extend
beyond one year. Accounts receivable at December 31, 2000 and
1999 included $160.9 million and $128.7 million, respectively, of
retainage billed under terms of the contracts. EMCOR estimates
that approximately 75% of retainage recorded at December 31,
2000 will be collected during 2001.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, EMCOR
considers all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. EMCOR maintains a
centralized cash management program whereby its excess cash 
balances are invested in high quality, short-term money market
instruments which are considered cash equivalents. At times,
cash balances in EMCOR’s bank accounts may exceed federally
insured limits.

2000 1999
Costs incurred on

uncompleted contracts $ 5,552,430 $ 4,906,654
Estimated earnings 403,416 410,755

5,955,846 5,317,409
Less: billings to date 6,112,702 5,391,561

$ (156,856) $ (74,152)

Inventories
Inventories, which consist primarily of construction materials, are
stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined principally
using average cost.

Investments, Notes and Other Long-Term Receivables
Investments, notes and other long-term receivables at December
31, 2000 were $10.4 million compared to $8.2 million at December
31, 1999, and primarily consist of investments in joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is
recorded principally using the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives ranging from 3 to 40 years.

Property, plant and equipment in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following amounts as
of December 31, 2000 and 1999 (in thousands):

Goodwill
Goodwill at December 31, 2000 and 1999, was approximately
$67.6 million and $68.0 million, respectively, and reflects the 
excess of cost over fair market value of net identifiable assets of
companies acquired in purchase transactions. Goodwill is being
amortized using the straight-line method over periods ranging
from 5 to 20 years.

At the end of each quarter, EMCOR reviews events and
changes in circumstances to determine whether the recoverability
of the carrying value of goodwill should be reassessed. Should
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable based on undiscounted future cash flows, an 
impairment loss measured by the difference between the 
discounted future cash flows (or another acceptable method for
determining fair value) and the carrying value of goodwill would
be recognized by EMCOR. Through December 31, 2000, no 
adjustment for the impairment of goodwill carrying value has 
been required.

Insurance Reserves 
EMCOR’s insurance liability is determined actuarially based 
on claims filed and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet 
reported. At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the estimated 
current portion of the discounted insurance liability was 
included in “Other accrued expenses and liabilities” in the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The non-current 
portion of the discounted insurance liability was included in
“Other long-term obligations”.

2000 1999
Costs and estimated earnings

in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts $ 158,073 $ 142,000

Billings in excess of costs
and estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts (314,929) (216,152)

$ (156,856) $ (74,152)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2000 1999
Machinery and equipment $ 45,042 $ 42,233
Furniture and fixtures 16,905 13,658
Land, buildings and

leasehold improvements 24,740 21,449
86,687 77,340

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization (47,728) (40,831)

$ 38,959 $ 36,509
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
EMCOR’s financial instruments include accounts receivable,
investments, notes and other long-term receivables, long-term debt
and other financing commitments, for which carrying values
approximate their fair values.

At December 31, 2000, the fair value of EMCOR’s 5.75%
Convertible Subordinated Notes was $116.2 million compared to
the carrying value of $115.0 million. The fair value was estimated
based on quoted market prices and market interest rates as of
December 31, 2000.

Foreign Operations
The financial statements and transactions of EMCOR’s foreign
subsidiaries are maintained in their functional currency and 
translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 52, “Foreign Currency
Translation”. Translation adjustments have been accumulated as 
a separate component of Stockholders’ equity as Accumulated
other comprehensive loss.

Income Taxes
EMCOR accounts for income taxes in accordance with the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). SFAS 109
requires an asset and liability approach which requires the
recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and
liabilities. Valuation allowances are established when necessary
to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities
Gains and losses on contracts designated as hedges of net 
investments in foreign subsidiaries are recognized in 
the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and
Comprehensive Income as a component of Accumulated other
comprehensive loss.

As of December 31, 2000, EMCOR did not have any forward
contracts in effect, and the forward contracts in effect during the
year were not material to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Valuation of Stock Option Grants
EMCOR accounts for its stock options under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees” (“APB 25”). See Note I for pro forma information
relating to treatment of EMCOR’s stock options under Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”).

New Accounting Pronouncements
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”).

SFAS 133, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities-Deferral of the Effective Date of SFAS No. 133”,
and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 138
“Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS 138”), establishes for fiscal quarters of fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2000 accounting and reporting 
standards requiring derivative instruments, as defined, to be 
measured in the financial statements at fair value. SFAS 133 also
requires that changes in the derivative instruments’ fair value be
recognized currently in earnings unless certain accounting criteria
are met. EMCOR has evaluated this standard and has concluded
that the provisions of SFAS 133 will have no significant effect on
the financial condition or results of operations of EMCOR.

In September 2000, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities” (“SFAS 140”). SFAS 140 is a 
replacement of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
125. SFAS 140 provides accounting and reporting standards for
transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishment of
liabilities occurring after March 31, 2001. EMCOR has evaluated
this standard and has concluded that the provisions of SFAS 140
will not have a significant effect on the financial conditions or
results of operations of EMCOR.

Note C – Acquisitions of Businesses

During 2000, EMCOR paid additional consideration by reason of
earn-outs for prior year acquisitions of an aggregate of $4.2 million
in cash. During 1999, EMCOR acquired two businesses and paid
additional consideration by reason of earn-outs with respect to
prior year acquisitions of an aggregate of $55.8 million in cash.
During 1998, EMCOR acquired ten businesses for an aggregate
purchase price of $36.8 million, $28.5 million of which was paid in
cash and $8.3 million was paid in notes made by EMCOR. The
purchase price of certain transactions are subject to finalization
based on certain contingencies provided for in the purchase 
agreements. These acquisitions were accounted for by the purchase
method, and the purchase price has been allocated to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon the estimated fair 
values of these assets and liabilities at the dates of acquisition.
Goodwill, representing the excess purchase price over the fair value
of amounts assigned to the net tangible assets acquired, was 
$67.6 million and $68.0 million at December 31, 2000 and 1999,
respectively, and is being amortized over periods of 5 to 20 years.
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998 was $4.6, $3.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
The pro forma effect on EMCOR’s revenues, net income and 
earnings per share for 1999 and 1998, as though the acquisitions
occurred as of January 1 of each year, was not material.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note D – Earnings Per Share

The following tables summarize EMCOR’s calculation of Basic
and Diluted Earnings per Share (“EPS”) for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:

Note E – Current Debt

1998 Credit Facility
On December 22, 1998, EMCOR and certain of its subsidiaries
amended and restated its June 19, 1996 credit facility; the amended
credit facility provides EMCOR with a credit facility for borrowings
of up to $150.0 million. The amended credit facility, which has an
expiration date of June 30, 2002, is guaranteed by certain direct
and indirect subsidiaries of EMCOR. It is secured by substantially
all of the assets of EMCOR and those subsidiaries, and it provides
for borrowing capacity available in the form of revolving loans
and/or letters of credit. The amended credit facility contains 
various covenants, including among other things, maintenance of
certain financial ratios, and significant restrictions with respect to

cumulative aggregate payments for dividends, common stock
repurchases, investments, acquisitions, indebtedness, capital 
expenditures, and prepayments of subordinated debt, all as defined
therein. The revolving loans bear interest at (1) a rate which is the
prime commercial lending rate announced by Harris Trust and
Savings Bank from time to time (9.5% at December 31, 2000) plus
0% to 0.5%, based on certain financial tests or (2) a LIBOR rate
(6.3% at December 31, 2000) plus 1.25% to 2.0% based on certain
financial tests. The interest rates in effect at December 31, 2000
were 9.5% and 7.6%, respectively. Letters of credit fees issued
under the credit facility ranging from 0.5% to 2.0% are charged
based on type of letters of credit issued and certain financial tests.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Income Shares Per Share
2000 (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Income available to common stockholders $ 40,089,000 10,440,089 $ 3.84

Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Convertible Subordinated Notes, including

assumed interest savings, net of tax 3,967,500 4,206,291

Options – 297,306

Warrants – –

Diluted EPS $ 44,056,500 14,943,686 $ 2.95

Income Shares Per Share
1999 (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Income available to common stockholders $ 27,821,000 9,732,930 $ 2.86

Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Convertible Subordinated Notes including 

assumed interest savings, net of tax 4,099,750 4,206,291
Options – 245,893
Warrants – 259,708
Diluted EPS $ 31,920,750 14,444,822 $ 2.21

Income Shares Per Share
1998 (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Income before extraordinary item available 

to common stockholders $ 17,092,000 10,232,527 $ 1.67

Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Convertible Subordinated Notes including 

assumed interest savings, net of tax 2,785,000 2,952,672
Options – 215,531
Warrants – 228,995
Diluted EPS $ 19,877,000 13,629,725 $ 1.46

The number of EMCOR’s options granted, which were excluded from the computation of Diluted EPS for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 because they would be antidilutive, were 26,325, 211,720 and 306,785, respectively.

Note D – Earnings Per Share

The following tables summarize EMCOR’s calculation of Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share (“EPS”) for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:
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As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, EMCOR had approximately
$12.1 million and $17.4 million of letters of credit outstanding,
respectively. No revolving loans were outstanding under the 1998
Credit Facility at December 31, 2000 or 1999.

Foreign Borrowings
In December 2000, EMCOR’s Canadian subsidiary, Comstock
Canada Ltd., renewed a credit agreement with a bank providing for
an overdraft facility of up to C$0.5 million. The facility is secured
by a standby letter of credit and provides for interest at the 
bank’s prime rate (7.5% at December 31, 2000). There were no
borrowings outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2000
or 1999. The Canadian subsidiary may utilize EMCOR’s 1998 
credit facility for any future working capital requirements.

Note F – Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets
consisted of the following amounts as of December 31, 2000 and
1999 (in thousands):

Convertible Subordinated Notes
In March 1998, EMCOR sold, pursuant to an underwritten public
offering, $115.0 million principal amount of 5.75% Convertible
Subordinated Notes (“Subordinated Notes”). The Subordinated
Notes will mature on April 1, 2005 and are general, unsecured 
obligations of EMCOR, subordinated in right to all existing and
future Senior Indebtedness (as defined in the indenture pursuant
to which Subordinated Notes were issued (the “Subordinated
Indenture”)) of EMCOR.

The Subordinated Indenture does not contain any financial
covenants or any restrictions on the payment of dividends, the
repurchase of equity securities of EMCOR or the incurrence of
Indebtedness (as defined in the Subordinated Indenture) or Senior
Indebtedness. Holders of the Subordinated Notes have the right at
any time to convert the Subordinated Notes into Common Stock
of EMCOR at a conversion price of $27.34 per share.

Series C Notes
On December 15, 1994, EMCOR issued approximately $62.8 
million principal amount of Series C Notes. Interest on the Series
C Notes was payable semiannually through June 15, 1996 by the
issuance of additional Series C Notes and was thereafter payable
quarterly in cash until redemption. The Series C Notes were 
unsecured indebtedness of EMCOR and were subordinate to
indebtedness under EMCOR’s 1996 credit facility. The Series C
Notes were recorded at a discount to their face amount to yield 
an estimated effective interest rate of 14.0%.

On June 3, 1997, EMCOR purchased $1.0 million of Series C
Notes and retired such notes. On June 27, 1997, EMCOR called for
the partial redemption of approximately $10.9 million principal
amount of Series C Notes. In accordance with the Indenture 
governing the Series C Notes, the redemption price of the Series C
Notes was 105% of the principal amount redeemed. Accordingly,
EMCOR recorded an extraordinary loss of approximately 
$1.0 million related to the early retirement of debt. The 
extraordinary loss consisted primarily of the write-off of the 
associated debt discount plus premiums and costs associated 
with the redemption, net of income tax benefits of approximately
$0.7 million.

On March 18, 1998, EMCOR called for redemption 
approximately $61.9 million principal amount of Series C Notes
and irrevocably funded such amounts, together with the 
redemption premium, with the trustee of the Series C Notes.
In accordance with the Indenture governing the Series C Notes,
the redemption price of the Series C Notes was 104% of the 
principal amount redeemed. Accordingly, EMCOR recorded an
extraordinary loss of $4.8 million net of income taxes related 
to the early retirement of debt. The extraordinary loss consisted
primarily of the write-off of the associated debt discount plus the
redemption premium and costs associated with the redemption,
net of income tax benefits.

Supplemental SellCo Note
On December 15, 1994, EMCOR issued to its wholly-owned 
subsidiary SellCo Corporation (“SellCo”) its 8.0% promissory 
note in the principal amount of approximately $5.5 million (the
“Supplemental SellCo Note”). The Supplemental SellCo Note 
provided that it matured on the earlier of (i) December 15, 2004 or
(ii) one day prior to the date on which the SellCo Notes (hereafter
defined) are deemed canceled. The Supplemental SellCo Note was
recorded at a discount to its face amount to yield an estimated
effective interest rate of 14.0%.

In June 1998, EMCOR prepaid in full, including accrued
interest thereon, the Supplemental SellCo Note.

SellCo Notes
On December 15, 1994, SellCo issued approximately $48.1 million
principal amount of 12.0% Subordinated Contingent Payments
Notes, due 2004 (the “SellCo Notes”). Interest is payable 
semiannually in additional SellCo Notes. Net Cash Proceeds 
(as defined in the Indenture pursuant to which the SellCo Notes
were issued) from the sales of stock or assets of SellCo subsidiaries
were to be used to redeem SellCo Notes. The SellCo Notes are not
obligations of EMCOR and, accordingly, are not included in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,

2000 1999
Convertible Subordinated

Notes at 5.75%,
due 2005 $ 115,000 $ 115,000

Note Payable at 6.0%,
due 2000 – 1,150

Capitalized Lease Obligations
at weighted average interest
rates from 5.0% to 11.6%,
payable in varying amounts
through 2005 573 554

Other, at weighted average
interest rates of approximately
10.0%, payable in varying
amounts through 2016 1,056 1,534

116,629 118,238
Less: current maturities 751 2,235

$ 115,878 $ 116,003

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2000 and 1999. Since the date of issuance, approximately $21.5
million of the SellCo Notes have been redeemed with proceeds
from the sale of stock and assets of SellCo subsidiaries and the pre-
payment by EMCOR of the Supplemental SellCo Note. The SellCo
Notes mature on December 15, 2004 if not deemed canceled at an
earlier date pursuant to the Indenture.

Notes Payable
In 1998, EMCOR issued notes in connection with the acquisition
of two companies. A principal payment of $1.0 million was made
in August 1999 in respect of one note issued in August 1998, and a
principal payment of the balance of $1.15 million was made in
respect of that note in August 2000. Interest on the note was
payable together with payments of principal. The other note,
issued in the principal amount of $6.2 million in December 1998,
was paid in full in January 1999.

Capitalized Lease Obligations
See Note K in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Long-Term Debt
Other long-term debt consists primarily of loans for real estate,
office equipment, automobiles and building improvements. As 
of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, other long-term 
debt, excluding current maturities, totaling $1.1 million and $1.5
million was owed by certain of EMCOR’s subsidiaries. The 
aggregate amount of other long-term debt maturing during the
next five years is approximately: $0.2 million in each of 2001 and 
2002, $0.1 million in each of 2003, 2004 and 2005, and 
$0.4 million thereafter.

Note G – Income Taxes

EMCOR files a consolidated federal income tax return including 
all of its U.S. subsidiaries. At December 31, 2000, EMCOR had net
operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) for U.S. income tax 
purposes of approximately $40.0 million, which expire in the years
2009 through 2012. The NOLs are subject to review by the Internal
Revenue Service. Future changes in ownership of EMCOR, as
defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, could limit
the amount of NOLs available for use in any one year. In the
United Kingdom, EMCOR’s wholly owned subsidiary, Drake &
Scull, has a trading loss carry-forward of approximately 
$6.0 million. Trading losses may be carried forward, without a 
time limit, against future income from the same trade.

EMCOR adopted Fresh-Start Accounting in connection with
EMCOR’s reorganization in December 1994. As a result, the tax
benefit of any net operating loss carryforwards or net deductible
temporary differences which existed as of December 15, 1994 will
result in a charge to the tax provision (provision in lieu of income
taxes) and to capital surplus. Amounts credited to capital surplus
were $24.4 million, $15.6 million and $8.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

The income tax provision in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2000 1999 1998

Current:
Federal $ 1,364 $ 872 $ 302
State and local 3,394 2,510 2,035
Foreign 1,180 1,730 2,161

5,938 5,112 4,498

Deferred:
Foreign 1,138 1,100 –

Provision in lieu of income taxes 24,422 15,645 8,151
$ 31,498 $ 21,857 $ 12,649

Factors accounting for the variation from U.S. statutory income tax rates relating to continuing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 were as follows (in thousands):

2000 1999 1998

Federal income taxes at the statutory rate $ 25,055 $ 17,387 $ 10,409
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefits 3,894 2,990 1,058
Foreign income taxes 890 271 1,247
Non-deductible goodwill amortization 1,211 843 101
Other 448 366 (166)

$ 31,498 $ 21,857 $ 12,649
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The components of the net deferred income tax liability
(asset) included in “Other accrued expenses and liabilities” in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for the years ended
December 31, 2000, and 1999 were as follows (in thousands):

Income before income taxes and extraordinary item for the
years ended December 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998 consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2000 1999
Deferred tax liabilities:
Costs capitalized for financial

statement purposes and
deducted for income
tax purposes $    7,885 $ 23,407

Total deferred tax liabilities 7,885 23,407
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards (16,257) (42,166)
Excess of amounts expensed for

financial statement purposes
over amounts deducted for
income tax purposes (49,900) (64,149)

Other (6,403) (2,899)
Total deferred tax assets (72,560) (109,214)
Valuation allowance for deferred

tax assets 68,787 88,781
Net deferred tax assets (3,773) (20,433)
Net deferred tax liability $ 4,112 $ 2,974

2000 1999 1998
United States $ 59,105 $ 42,714 $ 27,130
Foreign 12,482 6,964 2,611

$ 71,587 $ 49,678 $ 29,741

Authorized Exercise
Shares Vesting Expiration Price

1994 Management Stock Option Plan 1,000,000 Generally, 331⁄3% on Ten years from Fair market value of
(the “1994 Plan”) each anniversary of grant date common stock on

grant date grant date

1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Non-Qualified 200,000 100% on grant date Ten years from Fair market value of
Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan”) grant date common stock on

grant date

1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Non-Qualified 300,000 (1) Five years from Fair market value of
Stock Option Plan (the“1997 Directors’ grant date common stock
Stock Option Plan”) on grant date (3)

1997 Stock Plan for Directors (the “1997 150,000 (2) Five years from Fair market value
Directors’ Stock Plan”) grant date of common stock

on grant date (4)

Other Stock Option Grants Not applicable Generally, either Ten years from Fair market value of
100% on first grant date common stock

anniversary of grant on grant date
date or 331⁄3% on each

anniversary of 
grant date

(1) At the election of an individual serving as a Director, the individual may elect to receive one-third, two-thirds or all of his retainer for a calendar year in the
form of stock options. Such options become exercisable quarterly over the calendar year. In addition, the individual will receive additional stock options equal to
the product of 0.5 times the amount of stock options otherwise issued as a result of his election.

(2) At the election of an individual serving as a Director, the individual may elect to receive one-third, two-thirds or all of his retainer for a calendar year in the
form of deferred stock units equal in value to the retainer. In addition, the individual will receive additional deferred stock units equal to 0.2 times the amount of
deferred stock units otherwise issued as a result of his election. Following termination of Board service, the director receives shares of common stock equal to the
number of deferred stock units.

(3) The grant date is the first business day of a calendar year for individuals who are serving as Directors as of such date, and on the date of grant.
(4) The grant date is the first business day of a calendar year for individuals who are serving as Directors as of such date.

Note H – Common Stock

On March 18, 1998, EMCOR sold, pursuant to an underwritten
public offering, 1,100,000 of its common stock at a price of
$21.875 per share.

As part of a program previously authorized by the Board of
Directors, EMCOR purchased 174,100 and 957,900 shares of its
common stock during 1999 and 1998, respectively. The aggregate
amount of $16.8 million paid for those shares has been classified 
as “Treasury stock, at cost” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 2000. EMCOR management is authorized to 
repurchase up to $20.0 million of EMCOR’s common stock under
this program.

Note I – Stock Options and Warrants

EMCOR has stock based compensation plans under which employees receive stock options and outside directors receive stock options or
shares of common stock. During 2000 and 1999, certain stock options were granted by the board of directors outside of established stock
option plans. A summary of the general terms of the stock option and stock unit plans, plus other stock option grants follows:
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The following table summarizes EMCOR’s stock option activity since December 31, 1997:

1997 1997 Other
Directors’ Stock Directors’ Stock

1994 Plan 1995 Plan Option Plan Stock Plan Option Grants
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average Average Average
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Balance, December 31, 1997 918,377 $ 11.12 67,500 $ 11.53 – – – – – –
Granted 90,000 $ 20.06 18,000 $ 19.63 35,785 $ 19.94 1,800 $ 20.00 – –
Forfeited (205,000) $ 19.73 – – – – – – – –
Exercised (81,676) $ 5.29 – – – – – – – –

Balance, December 31, 1998 721,701 $ 10.44 85,500 $ 13.24 35,785 $ 19.94 1,800 $ 20.00 – –
Granted – – 18,000 $ 22.13 40,968 $ 16.19 330 $ 19.63 315,000 $ 18.49
Forfeited – – – – – – – – – –
Exercised (16,933) $ 9.13 (10,500) $ 6.34 – – (1,200) $ 20.00 – –

Balance, December 31, 1999 704,768 $ 10.47 93,000 $ 15.74 76,753 $ 17.94 930 $ 19.87 315,000 $ 18.49
Granted – – 18,000 $ 27.13 45,612 $ 17.56 – – 94,000 $ 18.44

Forfeited – – – – – – – – – –

Exercised (23,001) $ 7.54 (10,500) $ 6.34 (6,828) $ 16.19 (600) $ 20.00 (2,000) $ 16.50

Balance, December 31, 2000 681,767 $ 10.57 100,500 $ 18.76 115,537 $ 17.89 330 $ 19.63 407,000 $ 18.49

At December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, approximately 1,005,000, 943,000 and 642,000 options were exercisable, respectively. The
weighted average exercise price of exercisable options at December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 was approximately $12.77, $12.28 and $8.43,
respectively.

The following table summarizes information about EMCOR’s stock options at December 31, 2000:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Number Remaining Life Exercise Price Number Exercise Price

$4.75–$5.13 424,600 4.26 Years $4.95 424,600 $4.95
$9.38–$9.63 12,000 4.88 Years $9.51 12,000 $9.51

$14.13–$20.00 801,868 7.33 Years $18.62 544,204 $18.55
$20.38–$22.13 48,666 8.45 Years $21.64 24,668 $21.66

$27.13 18,000 9.57 Years $27.13 – –

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2000, 1999 and 1998 were $19.18, $18.41 and $15.18, respectively. The fair
value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions used for grants in 2000, 1999 and 1998: risk-free interest rates of 4.6% to 6.6% (representing the risk-free interest rate
at the date of the grant); expected dividend yields of zero percent; expected terms of 3.3 to 6.5 years; and expected volatility of 71.2%,
73.6%, 87.3% and 79.8% for options granted during 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
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EMCOR applies APB 25 and related interpretations in
accounting for its stock options. Accordingly, no compensation 
cost has been recognized in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998 for stock options granted during those years. Had
compensation cost for these options been determined consistent
with SFAS 123, EMCOR’s net income, Basic EPS and Diluted 
EPS would have been reduced from the following as reported 
amounts to the following pro forma amounts (in thousands, except
per share amounts):

Note J – Retirement Plans

EMCOR’s United Kingdom subsidiary has a defined benefit 
pension plan covering substantially all eligible employees. The 
benefits under the plan are based on wages and years of
service with the subsidiary. EMCOR’s policy is to fund the 
minimum amount required by law.

The change in benefit obligation and plan assets for the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 consisted of the following
components (in thousands):

2000 1999 1998
Net income:

As reported $ 40,089 $ 27,821 $ 12,315
Pro forma $ 37,204 $ 25,597 $ 10,176

Basic EPS:
As reported $ 3.84 $ 2.86 $ 1.20
Pro forma $ 3.56 $ 2.63 $ 0.99

Diluted EPS
As reported $ 2.95 $ 2.21 $ 1.11
Pro forma $ 2.76 $ 2.06 $ 0.75

2000 1999
Change in pension benefit 
obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning

of year $ 97,217 $          87,574
Service cost 6,028 6,285
Interest cost 5,553 5,243
Changes in actuarial assumptions 4,276 3,965
Benefits paid (4,209) (2,881)
Foreign currency exchange

rate changes (7,377) (2,969)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 101,488 $ 97,217

Change in pension plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year $ 101,247 $ 82,428
Actual return on plan assets (1,359) 17,810
Employer contributions 5,357 4,529
Plan participants’ contributions 2,529 2,155
Benefits paid (4,209) (2,881)
Foreign currency exchange rate

changes (7,683) (2,794)
Fair values of plan assets at end

of year $ 95,882 $ 101,247

Funded status $ (5,606) $ 4,030
Unrecognized transition amount (278) (383)
Unrecognized prior service cost 409 518
Unrecognized losses/(gains) 4,433 (6,338)
Net amount recognized $ (1,042) $ (2,173)

Amounts recognized in 
the Consolidated Financial 
Statements:
Employer contributions $ 5,357 $ 4,529
Net periodic pension 

benefit cost (4,391) (5,408)
Accrued pension cost

brought forward (2,173) (1,340)
Foreign currency exchange

rate changes 165 46
Net amount recognized as 

accrued pension liability $ (1,042) $ (2,173)

Warrants
On December 15, 1994, EMCOR issued to the holders of
$7,040,000 principal amount of its pre-bankruptcy petition 7.75%
Convertible Subordinated Debentures and $9,600,000 principal
amounts of its pre-bankruptcy petition 12.0% Subordinated Notes,
their pro rata share of each of two series of five-year Warrants to
purchase shares of Common Stock, namely Series X Warrants 
and Series Y Warrants, with an exercise price of $12.55 per share
and $17.55 per share, respectively. In addition, approximately
28,000 Series X Warrants and 28,000 Series Y Warrants, were 
issued to Belmont Capital Partners II, L. P. as a portion of
additional interest under a debtor-in-possession credit facility.
During 1999, 600,603 Series X and 141,944 Series Y Warrants were 
exercised. All unexercised Series X and Series Y Warrants expired 
on December 15, 1999.
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2000 1999 1998
Discount rate 6.0% 6.0% 6.0%

Annual rate
of salary
provision 4.0% 4.0% 6.5%

Annual rate of
return on
plan assets 7.0% 7.5% 10.0%

The assumptions used as of December 31, 2000, 1999 and
1998 in determining pension cost and liability shown above were
as follows:

For measurement purposes, a 2.5% annual rate of increase in
the per capita cost of covered pension benefits was assumed for
2000 and 1999.

The components of net periodic pension benefit cost for the
years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 were as follows
(in thousands):

2000 1999 1998
Service cost $ 6,028 $ 6,285 $ 4,994
Interest cost 5,553 5,243 5,554
Expected 

return on 
plan assets 1,359 (17,810) (9,666)

Net amortiza-
tion of prior
service cost
and actuarial
(gain)/loss (8,549) 11,690 2,436

Net periodic
pension 
benefit cost $ 4,391 $ 5,408 $           3,318

EMCOR contributes to various union pension funds based
upon wages paid to union employees of EMCOR. Such contributions
approximated $88.9 million, $71.1 million and $57.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

EMCOR has a defined contribution retirement plan that 
covers its U.S. non-union eligible employees. Contributions to this
plan are based on a percentage of the employee’s base compensation.
The expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2000,

1999 and 1998, for the defined contribution plan was $2.9 million,
$2.2 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

Note K – Commitments and Contingencies

EMCOR and its subsidiaries lease land, buildings and equipment
under various leases. The leases frequently include renewal 
options and require EMCOR to pay for utilities, taxes, insurance
and maintenance expenses.

Future minimum payments, by year and in the aggregate,
under capital leases, non-cancelable operating leases and related
sub-leases with initial or remaining terms of one or more years at
December 31, 2000 were as follows (in thousands):

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999
and 1998 was $25.4 million, $15.1 million and $12.1 million,
respectively. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998 included sublease rental income of $0.6 million,
$0.7 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

EMCOR has employment agreements with certain of its
executive officers and management personnel. These agreements
generally continue until terminated by the executive or EMCOR
and provide for severance benefits if terminated. Certain of the
agreements provide the employees with certain additional rights if
a change of control (as defined) of EMCOR occurs.

EMCOR is contingently liable to sureties in respect of
performance and payment bonds issued by the sureties in 
connection with certain contracts entered into by EMCOR’s 
subsidiaries in the normal course of their business. EMCOR has
agreed to indemnify the sureties for any payments made by 
them in respect of such bonds.

EMCOR is subject to regulation with respect to the handling
of certain materials used in construction which are classified as
hazardous or toxic by Federal, State and local agencies. EMCOR’s
practice is to avoid participation in projects principally involving
the remediation or removal of such materials. However, where
remediation is a required part of contract performance, EMCOR
believes it complies with all applicable regulations governing the
discharge of material into the environment or otherwise relating to
the protection of the environment.

Note L – Additional Cash Flow Information

The following presents information about cash paid for interest
and income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and
1998 (in thousands):

Capital Operating Sublease
Lease Lease Income

2001 $ 366 $ 23,807 $ 358
2002 117 19,783 366
2003 81 15,095 355
2004 19 10,973 253
2005 – 7,301 54
Thereafter – 12,053 –
Total minimum 

lease 
payments 583 $ 89,012 $ 1,386

Amounts 
representing
interest (10)

Present value 
of net 
minimum
lease 
payments $ 573

2000 1999 1998

Cash paid 
during the 
year for:

Interest $ 8,290 $            9,018 $     10,849
Income taxes $ 4,039 $            5,418 $ 1,480
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2000 1999 1998

Revenues from unrelated entities:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 1,350,716 $ 993,073 $ 888,594
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 1,253,663 1,053,727 599,616
United States other services 172,279 96,150 14,392
Total United States operations 2,776,658 2,142,950 1,502,602
Canada construction and facilities services 236,961 196,694 201,918
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 446,251 553,654 493,278
Other international construction and facilities services 334 664 12,576
Total worldwide operations $ 3,460,204 $ 2,893,962 $ 2,210,374

Total revenues:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 1,373,977 $ 1,000,234 $ 892,090
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 1,275,253 1,061,326 601,975
United States other services 175,246 96,843 14,449
Less intersegment revenues (47,818) (15,453) (5,912)
Total United States operations 2,776,658 2,142,950 1,502,602
Canada construction and facilities services 236,961 196,694 201,918
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 446,251 553,654 493,278
Other international construction and facilities services 334 664 12,576
Total worldwide operations $ 3,460,204 $ 2,893,962 $ 2,210,374

Operating income (loss):
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 58,644 $ 38,485 $ 36,315
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 36,345 37,815 20,955
United States other services (5,989) (4,390) (4,783)
Total United States operations 89,000 71,910 52,487
Canada construction and facilities services 5,160 3,991 5,000
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 6,026 3,208 (876)
Other international construction and facilities services 551 (355) (1,260)
Corporate administration (21,812) (20,663) (18,127)
Total worldwide operations 78,925 58,091 37,224

Other corporate items:
Interest expense (9,705) (10,520) (11,041)
Interest income 2,367 2,107 3,558
Income before taxes and extraordinary item $ 71,587 $ 49,678 $ 29,741

Note M – Segment Information

EMCOR has the following reportable segments: United States electrical construction and facilities services, United States mechanical 
construction and facilities services, Canada construction and facilities services and United Kingdom construction and facilities services.
United States other services primarily represents those operations which principally provide consulting and maintenance services. Other
international construction and facilities services represents EMCOR’s operations outside of the United States, Canada, and the United
Kingdom, primarily in South Africa and the Middle East, performing electrical construction, mechanical construction and facilities 
services. Extraordinary item - loss on early extinguishment of debt, net of income taxes, of $4.8 million for the year ended December 31,
1998 is related to the Corporate Administration of EMCOR.

The following presents information about industry segments and geographic areas for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and
1998 (in thousands):



2000 1999
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 46,323 $ 38,889
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 91,741 83,044
United States other services 2,776 3,417
Total United States operations 140,840 125,350
Canada construction and facilities services 9,087 7,949
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 8,146 8,675
Other international construction and facilities services – 26
Total worldwide operations $ 158,073 $ 142,000

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 190,276 $ 103,278
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 93,477 79,535
United States other services 2,205 1,786
Total United States operations 285,958 184,599
Canada construction and facilities services 5,835 8,252
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 23,136 18,494
Other international construction and facilities services – 4,807
Total worldwide operations $ 314,929 $ 216,152

Total assets:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 422,552 $ 343,309
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 445,003 378,813
United States other services 85,099 58,950
Total United States operations 952,654 781,072
Canada construction and facilities services 60,122 62,141
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 136,645 151,414
Other international construction and facilities services 14,181 18,295
Corporate administration 98,262 39,324
Total worldwide operations $ 1,261,864 $ 1,052,246
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2000 1999 1998
Capital expenditures:

United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 3,495 $ 3,689 $ 2,928
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 5,938 3,012 2,473
United States other services 2,000 655 116
Total United States operations 11,433 7,356 5,517
Canada construction and facilities services 1,520 804 990
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 3,470 2,226 3,928
Other international construction and facilities services – 113 48
Corporate administration 275 238 463
Total worldwide operations $ 16,698 $ 10,737 $ 10,946

Depreciation and amortization:
United States electrical construction and facilities services $ 3,485 $ 3,284 $ 3,315
United States mechanical construction and facilities services 5,787 5,083 2,664
United States other services 3,067 2,329 526
Total United States operations 12,339 10,696 6,505
Canada construction and facilities services 836 680 651
United Kingdom construction and facilities services 2,858 2,550 3,072
Other international construction and facilities services – 60 207
Corporate administration 68 107 145
Total worldwide operations $ 16,101 $ 14,093 $ 10,580
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(In thousands, except per share data) March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

2000 Quarterly Results

Revenues $ 741,522 $ 866,850 $ 921,568 $ 930,264

Gross profit $ 72,545 $ 85,343 $ 88,469 $ 111,460

Net income $ 4,930 $ 9,158 $ 11,479 $ 14,522

Basic EPS $ 0.47 $ 0.88 $ 1.10 $ 1.39

Diluted EPS $ 0.40 $ 0.68 $ 0.83 $ 1.03

1999 Quarterly Results
Revenues $ 539,983 $ 696,489 $ 810,749 $ 846,741
Gross profit $ 51,955 $ 66,628 $ 78,017 $ 99,307
Net income $ 2,051 $ 5,427 $ 8,639 $ 11,704
Basic EPS $ 0.21 $ 0.56 $ 0.89 $ 1.19
Diluted EPS $ 0.20 $ 0.45 $ 0.66 $ 0.88

Note O – Legal Proceedings

In February 1995, as part of an investigation by the New York
County District Attorney’s office into the business affairs of a 
general contractor that did business with EMCOR’s subsidiary,
Forest Electric Corp. (“Forest”), a search warrant was executed at
Forest’s executive offices. On July 12, 2000, Forest was served 
with a Subpoena Duces Tecum to produce certain documents as
part of a broader investigation by the New York County District
Attorney’s office into illegal business practices in the New York City
construction industry. Forest has been informed by the New York
County District Attorney’s office that it and certain of its 
officers are targets of the investigation. Forest intends to produce
documents in response to the subpoena and to cooperate fully
with the District Attorney’s office investigation as it proceeds.

On July 31, 1998, a former employee of a subsidiary of
EMCOR filed a class-action complaint on behalf of the 
participants in two employee benefit plans sponsored by EMCOR
against EMCOR and other defendants for breach of fiduciary duty
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act. All of the
claims relate to alleged acts or omissions which occurred during
the period May 1991 to December 1994. The principal allegations
of the complaint are that the defendants breached their fiduciary

duties by causing the plans to purchase and hold stock of EMCOR
when it was then known as JWP, Inc. and when the defendants
knew or should have known it was imprudent to do so. The 
plaintiff has not made claim for a specific dollar amount of
damages but generally seeks to recover for the benefit plans the 
loss in the value of JWP, Inc. stock held by the plans. EMCOR and
the other defendants intend to vigorously defend the case.
Insurance coverage may be applicable under an EMCOR pension
trust liability insurance policy for EMCOR and those present and
former employees of EMCOR who are defendants in the action.

Substantial settlements or damage judgements against EMCOR
arising out of these matters could have a material adverse effect on
EMCOR’s business, operating results and financial condition.

In addition to the above, EMCOR is involved in other legal
proceedings and claims, asserted by and against EMCOR, which
have arisen in the ordinary course of business. EMCOR believes it
has a number of valid defenses to these actions and EMCOR
intends to vigorously defend or assert these claims and does not
believe that a significant liability will result. However, EMCOR
cannot predict the outcome thereof or the impact that an adverse
result of the matters discussed above will have upon EMCOR’s
financial position or results of operations.

Note N – Selected Unaudited Quarterly Information 
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of EMCOR Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
EMCOR Group, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and 
stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These
consolidated financial statements and the schedule referred to
below are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Report of Independent Public Accountants

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results 
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion
on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The schedule of
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is presented for purposes of
complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
is not part of the basic financial statements. This schedule has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the
basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly states in all
material respects the financial data required to be set forth therein
in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
February 16, 2001
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Market Information
On November 16, 2000, EMCOR’s common stock began trading on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “EME”. Prior to
that time, EMCOR’s common stock had been traded on the Nasdaq
National Market tier of the Nasdaq Stock Market.

The following table sets forth high and low sales prices for the
common stock for the periods indicated as reported by the Nasdaq
National Market through November 15, 2000, and thereafter, as
reported by the New York Stock Exchange:

Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Holders
As of February 12, 2001, there were 138 shareholders of record
and, as of that date, EMCOR estimates there were approximately
1,100 beneficial owners holding stock in nominee or “street” name.

Dividends
EMCOR did not pay dividends on its common stock during 2000
or 1999, and it does not anticipate that it will pay dividends 
on its common stock in the foreseeable future. EMCOR’s 
working capital credit facility limits the payment of dividends 
on its common stock.2000 High Low

First Quarter $ 241⁄4 $ 171⁄2

Second Quarter $ 243⁄4 $ 173⁄4

Third Quarter $ 281⁄8 $ 221⁄4

Fourth Quarter
(through November 15) $ 261⁄4 $ 223⁄4

Fourth Quarter
(commencing November 16) $ 26 $ 23

1999 High Low
First Quarter $ 175⁄8 $ 161⁄16

Second Quarter $ 26 $ 161⁄2
Third Quarter $ 251⁄4 $ 19
Fourth Quarter $ 201⁄8 $ 167⁄8
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Corporate Information

Other Information

Corporate Headquarters
EMCOR Group, Inc.
101 Merritt Seven, 7th Floor, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851
203-849-7800   www.emcorgroup.com

Common Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar
Bank of New York
101 Barclay Street, New York, New York 10286
800-524-4458

EMCOR Group, Inc. 5.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes, Trustee
State Street Bank and Trust Co.
225 Asylum Street, Hartford, Connecticut 06103
860-244-1846

SellCo Corporation 
12% Subordinated Contingent Payment Notes, Trustee
State Street Bank and Trust Co.
225 Asylum Street, Hartford, Connecticut 06103
Attention: Corporate Trust Administration
860-244-1846

Independent Public Accountants
Arthur Andersen LLP
400 Atlantic Street, Stamford, Connecticut 06912

New York Stock Exchange Information
The Common Stock of EMCOR Group, Inc. is traded on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “EME”

Copies of the Company’s Annual Report 
are available without charge upon written request to:
Investor Relations, EMCOR Group, Inc.
101 Merritt Seven, 7th Floor, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851

Corporate Officers

Frank T. MacInnis
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Jeffrey M. Levy
President and Chief Operating Officer

Sheldon I. Cammaker, Esq.
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Leicle E. Chesser
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Sidney R. Bernstein, Esq.
Vice President, Taxation

J. Edward Buckley
Vice President, Human Resources

Trevor M. Foster
Vice President, Corporate Development

R. Kevin Matz
Vice President and Treasurer

Mark A. Pompa
Vice President and Controller

Rex C. Thrasher
Vice President, Risk Management

Board of Directors

Frank T. MacInnis
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of EMCOR Group, Inc.

Stephen W. Bershad
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Axsys
Technologies, Inc., a manufacturer of electronic components 
and controls

David A.B. Brown
President of The Windsor Group, a management consulting firm

Georges L. de Buffévent
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of SAGED,
a French company specializing in road construction, land 
development and waste management

Albert Fried, Jr.
Managing Member of Albert Fried & Company, LLC, a
broker/dealer and member of the New York Stock Exchange

Richard F. Hamm, Jr.
Vice President, Corporate Strategic Development and 
Acquisitions of Carlson Companies, Inc., a global travel,
hospitality and marketing services company

Kevin C. Toner
Principal of Aristeia Capital, LLC, an investment manager, and
President of the Isdell 86 Foundation, a not-for-profit organization
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UNITED STATES

BALCO, Inc.
Boston, MA
617-482-0100

Building Technology 
Engineers, Inc. (BTE)
Boston, MA
617-482-5455
Bloomington, MN
612-924-4866
Broken Arrow, OK
918-258-6310
Cherry Hill, NJ
856-488-8025
Gaithersburg, MD
301-294-2995
Orlando, FL
407-839-3128
Phoenix, AZ
602-735-5205

Building Technology Engineers 
of North America, LLC (BTENA)
Santa Ana, CA
714-438-4140

Contra Costa Electric, Inc.
Martinez, CA (San Francisco Area)
925-229-4250
Bakersfield, CA (Los Angeles Area)
661-322-4036

Dynalectric Company
Lakewood, CO (Denver Area)
303-233-4488
Miami Lakes, FL
305-556-5666
Norcross, GA
770-451-2164
Owensboro, KY
270-685-4925
Las Vegas, NV
702-736-8577
Columbus, OH
614-529-7500
Portland, OR
503-226-6771
Los Alamitos, CA 
(LA & Orange County Areas)
714-828-7000
San Diego, CA
858-712-4700
San Francisco, CA
415-597-4700
Newport News, VA
757-249-4032
Dulles, VA (Washington, DC Area)
703-742-3500

EMCOR Facilities Services 
of North America, Inc.
Boston, MA
617-482-3637

EMCOR Technologies, Inc.
Edison, NJ
732-339-0529

F.J. O’Toole Company
St. Clair Shores, MI (Detroit Area)
810-779-6500

Forest Electric Corp.
New York, NY
212-318-1500
Edison, NJ
732-248-1001

Gibson Electric Co., Inc.
Oak Brook, IL (Chicago Area)
630-572-3500
Waukegan, IL (Chicago Area)
847-336-1616

Gowan, Inc.
Houston, TX
713-696-5400

Hansen Mechanical Contractors, Inc.
Las Vegas, NV
702-361-5111

Heritage Air Systems, Inc.
Deer Park, NY (Greater NYC Area)
631-667-1044

Hyre Electric Company of Indiana, Inc.
Highland, IN
219-923-6100

J.C. Higgins Corp.
Stoughton, MA (Boston Area)
781-341-1500

John Miller Electric Company
Troy, MI (Detroit Area)
248-585-5454

KDC, Inc.
4462 Corporate Center Drive
Los Alamitos, CA 90720
714-484-2300

Labov Mechanical, Inc.
Pleasantville, NJ (Atlantic City Area)
609-383-9600

Marelich Mechanical Co., Inc.
Hayward, CA (San Francisco Area)
510-785-5500
Anaheim, CA
714-632-2600
Sacramento, CA
916-372-5533

Mesa Energy Systems, Inc.
Irvine, CA
949-460-0460
San Diego, CA
858-674-2299
Van Nuys, CA
818-756-0500
Pleasanton, CA
925-485-6180
Sacramento, CA
916-372-5533

Newcomb Anderson Associates
San Francisco, CA
415-434-2600

Northern Digital, Inc. (NDI)
Bakersfield, CA
661-322-6044

PACE Mechanical Services, Inc.
Westland, MI (Detroit Area)
734-595-8300

Penguin Air Conditioning Corp.
Brooklyn, NY (Greater NYC Area)
718-706-6500

Poole & Kent 
Northern Operations
Baltimore, MD
410-247-2200

Poole & Kent 
Southern Operations
Miami, FL
305-325-1930
Tampa, FL
813-251-2438
West Palm Beach, FL
561-471-3330
Raleigh, NC
919-781-6945

R.S. Harritan & Company, Inc.
Richmond, VA
804-275-7821

Trautman & Shreve, Inc.
Denver, CO
303-295-1414

The Fred B. DeBra Co.
Cincinnati, OH
513-631-1911

Tucker Mechanical
Meriden, CT (Hartford Area)
203-630-2506

University Mechanical & Engineering
Contractors, Inc. (UMEC)
San Diego, CA
619-956-2500
Tempe, AZ
480-921-0903
El Cajon, CA
619-956-2500

Wasatch Electric 
Salt Lake City, UT
801-487-4511

Welsbach Electric Corp.
College Point, NY
718-670-7900
Plainview, NY (Greater NYC Area)
516-454-0023

INTERNATIONAL 

CANADA 
Comstock Canada Ltd.
Burlington, ON
905-335-3333
Come-by-Chance, NF 
Dartmouth, NS (Halifax area) 
Edmonton, AB • Hamilton, ON 
Mississauga, ON• Ottawa, ON 
Regina, SK • Saint John, NB 
Thunder Bay, ON, • Toronto, ON 
Val Caron, ON • Vancouver, BC 
Victoria, BC • Winnipeg, MB

UNITED KINGDOM
Drake & Scull Group Ltd.
London, England
011 44 208 380 6700
Bishop’s Stortford • Bristol 
Bury St. Edmunds • Cardiff
Carshalton • Cowley • Eastleigh 
Fareham • Gateshead • Gatwick 
Hatfield • Heathrow • Leeds 
Livingston • Manchester
Milton Keynes • Redhill 
Solihull (Birmingham area) 
Stockport • Sunderland
Thetford • Walthamstow

EUROPE
MIDDLE EAST
SOUTH AFRICA
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knowledge in actionTM
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101 Merritt Seven, 7th Floor • Norwalk, CT 06851
Ph: 203-849-7800 • Fx: 203-849-7900
www.emcorgroup.com • EMCOR_INFO@emcorgroup.com


